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PROCEEDINGS 

(Transcript continued in sequence from 

Iolume 1.) 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: All right, we're going to 

:ake Mr. Gyynn now? 

MR. FROESCHLE: Madam Chairman, my name is 

Jeff Froeschle on behalf of Florida Power. I would like 

to call 

recess? 

Ed Gwynn. 

MR. ROSS: May I have about a one-minute 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Go ahead. 

(Pause) 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Mr. Ross, are you ready? 

MR. ROSS: I'm ready. 

KR. FROESCHLE: Thank you, Madam Chairman. 

EDWARD R. GWYNN 

was called as a witness on behalf of Florida Power 

Corporation, and having been duly sworn, testified as 

follows : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. FROESCHLE: 

Q Mr. Gwynn, would you please state your name 

and business address? 

A My name is Edward R. Gwynn. My business 

address is in Dallas, Texas. It's on North Central 
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Expressway in Dallas, Texas, HEARD Energy Corporation. 

It's Suite 500, and I -- my street address I can check. 
I have it here. I'll have to get it for you out of my 

wallet later. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: I'm sorry, I didn't hear what 

you said. 

WITNESS GWYNN: My address, my specific . 
address, I'm looking for it, and -- 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: We have it as 14643, Dallas 

Parkway, Suite 500, Dallas, Texas: is that it? 

WITNESS GWYNN: That is correct, Suite 500. 

BY MR. FROESCHLE: 

Q Do you have before you a document entitled 

Rebuttal Testimony of Edward R. Gwynn? 

A I do. 

Q Would you please describe how that testimony 

was prepared? 

A The testimony was prepared from previous 

deposition testimony that I gave in a deposition under 

subpoena for the Middle District Court of Florida in 

Case No. 95-992-Civ-T-24C, on October 6th of 1995, I 

believe. 

Q Have you reviewed that testimony? 

A I have. 

Q Do you have any additions or corrections you 



1 

2 

3 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

186 

Jould like to make to that testimony? 

A I have none. 

Q If you were asked the same questions today 

that were asked in this testimony, would you answer them 

the same way? 

A I would. 

MR. FROESCHLE: Madam Chairman, we would ask 

that Mr. Gwynn’s testimony be inserted into the record 

as though read. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: The rebuttal testimony of 

Mr. Edward R. Gwynn will be inserted in the record as 

though read. 

MR. ROSS: Madam Chairman, I must, just for 

the record, state an objection to Mr. Gwynn’s testimony, 

to this extent: A portion of Mr. Gwynn’s testimony 

covers privileged information as our former general 

counsel. And so that the record is clear that we are 

not waiving any objections to that, I think it is 

necessary on our client‘s behalf to object to that 

testimony coming into this record since it is privileged 

communications, and that is the entire portion of his 

testimony where he describes a legal opinion which he 

says he gave to our client at a particular meeting on 

October the 10th‘ 1992. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Mr. Ross, you need to tell me 
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:he lines that you object to. 

MR. ROSS: It would be starting on Page 7 ,  

h e  4 ,  and running through the bottom of Page 9, Line 

!5. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: And what is your objection? 

MR. ROSS: That he has testified to privileged 

:ommunications, and therefore it should not be admitted 

tnto evidence in this proceeding. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: As I understand it, this is 

:estimony that was taken from a deposition. 

Rake an objection to that -- his testifying at that 
:ime? 

Did you 

MR. ROSS: I was not counsel at the time, but 

C have to state for the record that counsel at that time 

did not make an objection at the deposition. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Well, I think the privilege 

has been waived, Mr. Ross. 

MR. ROSS: I understand what Your Honor is 

saying, but so that the record is clear for future 

proceedings, I wish to say that we continue to maintain 

the obj ection. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: All right. I’m going to 

allow the prefiled rebuttal testimony to be entered in 

the record as though read with that objection noted. 

MR. FROESCHLE: Mr. Gwynn has attached to his 
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testimony Exhibit N o s .  ERG-1 and ERG-2. We ask that 

they be marked as Composite Exhibit 22. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: They'll be marked as Exhibit 

22. 

(Exhibit N o .  22 marked for identification.) 
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Q. Please state your name and business address. 

A. My name is Edward R. Gwynn. My business address is 14643 Dallas 

Parkway, Suite 500, Dallas, Texas 75240. 

Q. By whom are you employed and in what capacity? 

A. I am employed by HEARD Energy Corporation ("HEARD") and I am 

currently the Sr. Vice President and General Counsel of HEARD. I dm not 

employed by, nor do I have any relationship with Florida Power, other than 

that they have subpoenaed me and agreed to pay my expenses incurred in 

connection with my attendance at a hearing in Tallahassee on this matter on 

February 19, 1996. 

Q. Prior to joining HEARD, by whom were you employed and in what 

capacity? 

A. I was employed by Panda Energy Corporation ("Panda Energy") as its general 

counsel. I occupied this position in late 1991, all of 1992 and part of 1993 

before I left Panda Energy. My responsibilities in this position included 

normal general counsel responsibilities such as negotiating contracts, writing 

contracts and handling normal corporate legal matters. Prior to actually 

becoming an employee of Panda Energy, I represented Panda Energy as its 

general counsel. I also was on the board of directors of Panda Energy for 
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some period of time. In total, I was involved either as an outside lawyer, 

board member or in-house general counsel for Panda Energy for about 10 

years. 

Do you have any continuing involvement with Panda? 

Yes. Various members of my family currently own 200,000 shares of stock 

of Panda. Panda also is suing a large group of companies and people, 

including, among others, HEARD and me. 

During 1991 and 1992, what was the relationship between Panda Energy 

and Panda-Kathleen Corporation, the general partner of Panda-Kathleen, 

L.P.? 

Panda-Kathleen Corporation was a subsidiary of Panda Energy ("Panda," as 

used herein, refers to Panda Energy, Panda-Kathleen Corporation or Panda 

Kathleen, L.P., depending upon the context in which I use the word 

"Panda"). 

Do you hold any professional certifications or licenses? 

Yes. I am licensed to practice law in several states, including Texas. 

Have you previously given testimony concerning issues that exist between 

Panda and Florida Power? 

Yes. On October 6, 1995, pursuant to a subpoena issued in the case of 

Pandu-Kathleen, L. P. v. Florida Power Corporation, pending in the United 

States District Court for the Middle District of Florida as Case No. 95-992- 

- 2 -  
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Civ-T-24C, I appeared in Dallas, Texas, for a deposition conducted initially 

by Florida Power's lawyer. At that time, I gave deposition testimony that 

lasted most of the day. During that deposition, I was cross-examined by the 

lawyer for Panda. 

What is the purpose of your testimony? 

Florida Power has subpoenaed me to provide testimony of my recollection of 

several events in which I was personally involved while employed by Panda 

and about which I previously testxied in my October 6 ,  1995 deposition. In 

that regard, I have reviewed portions of the "pre-filed" testimony of Ralph 

Killian, Brian Dietz and Darol Lindloff that I understand has been submitted 

for filing in this proceeding. 

13 

14 Q. On what do you base the testimony contained herein? 
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My testimony herein is based on my personal knowledge of the facts. 

THE DURATION OF THE CAPACITY PAYMENTS 

Did you read the portion of Ralph W a n ' s  pre-filed testimony (at page 

20, lines 14-21 and page 21 lines 1-12) in which he said that Florida 

Power agreed that (1) Panda would receive capacity payments for the 

entire 30-year term of the contract, and (2) Florida Power's payments 

would escalate over the contract term not shown in the tables iin Schedule 

3 to Appendix C at a rate of 5.1% per year? 

25 A. Yes. 
0 

- 3 -  
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Did you have occasion to attend the January 9, 1992 meeting at Florida 

Power Corporation's offices in St. Petersburg, Florida at which Mr. 

W a n  says that agreement was reached? 

Yes. 

In what capacity did you attend that meeting? 

I attended the January 9, 1992 meeting as Panda's principal contract 

negotiator. 

Was an agreement made at that meeting such as that described by Mr. 

W a n  at page 20, lines 14-21 and page 21 lines 1-12 of his ttpre-filedtl 

testimony? 

No. I and several other Panda employees, including Mr. Killian visited 

Florida Power's offices to discuss various questions and concerns that both 

parties had about the standard offer contract that Panda had submitted to 

Florida Power in October 1991 and that Florida Power had accepted in 

November (sometimes referred to as the "Standard Offer Contract"). We met 

with Allen Honey and others from Florida Power. I took contemporaneous 

notes during that meeting of various matters that were discussed between 

Florida Power and Panda. A copy of those notes is submitted with my 

testimony (although I did not write the words "makes you want to puke" on 

that exhibit -- I do not know who wrote those words). (Exhibit No. - 2 2 

(ERG- 1)). 

- 4 -  
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During the meeting, a Florida Power representative raised the subject of the 

duration of the capacity payments and the term of the contract. I believe it 

was Mr. Honey who said that the "term [of the standard offer contract] should 

be 20 years," or words to that effect. I recorded those words in my notes. 

(Exhibit No. - (ERG-1)). 

How did Panda's representatives respond to that statement? 

We did not agree with the statement. I made a note to myself to check the 

standard offer contract to analyze the issue of what, if any obligation, Florida 

Power had to make capacity payments beyond 20 years. During that meeting, 

however, no resolution of that issue was agreed to by Panda and Florida 

Power. We, on behalf of Panda, were not about to make any agreement on 

any one portion of the issues discussed until they all were resolved. 

During the January 9, 1992 meeting, did Florida Power make any 

definitive promise or agreement that the way this issue would be handled 

would be to either (1) pay Panda capacity payments for 30 years, (2) 

escalate the amount of capacity payments for the period following the 

year 2016 at a rate of 5.1%, (3) compute the payments using the formula 

contained in the PSC regulations, or (4) compute those payments using a 

different avoided unit? 

No. As I stated earlier, no definitive agreement or promise was made 

between the parties on this subject. 

24 

- 5 -  
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Prior to when you left Panda in early 1993, did Panda and Florida Power 

ever come to a definitive agreement on how to handle the issue concerning 

the duration of capacity payments and the term of the contract that had 

been raised at the January 9, 1992, meeting with Florida Power? 

Not to my knowledge. No one inside of Panda Energy ever reported to me 

during that period that they had reached any such agreement with Florida 

Power, and I never saw any letter or other writing that stated any such 

agreement had been reached. 

THE SIZE OF THE FACILITY 

Did you read the portions of the testimony of Messrs. Dietz, Killian and 

Lindloff concerning the size of the facility that Panda wants to build? 

Yes, I did. 

While you were employed by Panda, were you ever involved in 

discussions inside Panda concerning the size of the facility that would be 

built to satisfy Panda's obligations under its standard offer contract with 

Florida Power? 

Yes, on at least two separate occasions. The first time was in October 1991, 

when I filed with the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, Panda's 

AMENDED AND RESTATED NOTICE OF SELF CERTIFICATION AS A QUALIFYING FACILITY. 

A copy of that filing is submitted with my testimony. (Exhibit No. 

(ERG-2)). In that f h g ,  on behalf of Panda, I certXied that "The Facility 

- 6 -  



195 

1 

2 M w .  'I 

will have an estimated net maximum capacity at design conditions of 74.9 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 Q. 0 
14 A. 

15 

16 

17 Q. 

18 

19 

20 A. 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 e 

The second time I was involved in discussions about the facility size was 

about a year later, in or around October 1992. Specifically, I had been asked 

by the then president of Panda Energy, Hans van Kuilenburg, what size plant 

could be built. He asked me to research the standard offer contract and what 

I knew of the law of the situation and to advise Panda on what the contract 

provided. I recall attending a meeting at Panda's offices on or about October 

10, 1992, at which I gave my advice concerning the standard offer contract, 

and the facility size permitted under that contract. 

Who was present at the October 10, 1992, meeting? 

This meeting involved only Panda employees. As I recall it, Ralph Killian, 

Darol Lindloff, Don b e y  and Brim Dietz of Panda were all present. 

Please describe, as best you can recall it9 what you said during the 

October 10, 1992, meeting on the subject of facility size permitted under 

the Standard Offer Contract? 

One of the topics of discussion was the ability to require Florida Power to 

purchase energy at the "as-available" price generated by a plant with a 

capacity or facility size designed above 75 megawatts. By capacity, or 

facility size, I am referring to the capability of the facility to produce energy. 

I am not referring to the contractual term "committed capacity" as used in the 

Standard Offer Contract, which means the specific 74.9 Mw of energy 

- 7 -  
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produced by the facility that Panda was committed to provide to Florida 

Power and Florida Power was committed to purchase under the circumstances 

described therein. I was asked what capacity or size facility I felt the contract 

provisions would allow. 

I expressed reservations about Florida Power’s obligation to buy such energy 

from a plant designed with a capacity to produce more than 75 megawatts. I 

said to the Panda employees assembled for this meeting that (i) the Standard 

Offer Contract provided for a committed capacity of 74.9 megawatts, (ii) 

there was no mechanism to increase this presently in the contract, and (iii) 

Florida Power Corporation may or may not be required to accept (at as- 

available prices) energy generated by a capacity in excess of 75 megawatts. 

13 

14 I voiced the opinion intemally that perhaps the Standard Offer Contract could 
e 
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24 

be modified or interpreted to permit, within a range, relatively slight capacity 

(h, facility size) deviations that become apparent when the plant is tested. 

A plant normally will not test exactly at the capacity specified in the contract. 

I also voiced the opinion that this was a relatively slight range applicable only 

to a plant designed to achieve a 74.9 megawatt capacity at the worst ambient 

conditions, not to one designed to achieve a capacity greater than 74.9 

megawatts. 

Do you recall the size of the facility under consideration by Panda during 

the October 10, 1992, meeting? 

- 8 -  
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I do not recall the exact size, but I do recall it was in excess of 100 

megawatts. 

Did you state during the meeting whether you thought a facility of that 

size fit within what you earlier described as the slight deviation range that 

would be permitted? 

I stated in effect that I did not believe 100 Mw was within the range of what 

I earlier described as "slight deviations. 

Did you state during the meeting whether or not you felt that a facility of 

that size would be permissible under the standard offer contract? 

I was asked what size the plant could be, and I explained to the Panda people 

that in my opinion the standard offer contract as written would permit at most 

deviations that could be attributed to the differences that would occur in the 

fiial construction of the plant versus the targeted or intended capacity. I 

stated that in my opinion the contract, as written, would not permit 

deviations beyond 10 % . 

Q. During the October 10,1992, meeting did anyone with Panda say 

anything to the effect that it was technically infeasible to construct a 

facility that would enable Panda to fulfill the terms of its standard offer 

contract with Florida Power unless the size of that facility exceeded 100 

M w ?  

No, to the contrary, several of the turbines that were discussed at that meeting 

involved facility sizes that closely approximated 75 Mw. 

A. 

- 9 -  



1 Q. Does this conclude your testimony? 

2 A. Yes. * 
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BY MR. FROESCHLE: 

Q Mr. Gwynn, would you please give us a summary 

of your testimony? 

A Yes. A standard offer contract with a 30-year 

term was submitted by Panda to Florida Power Corporation 

in or about October 1991. Florida Power Corporation 

signed and returned the standard offer contract to Panda 

without modification during November 1991. The first 

negotiation or review session was held at Florida Power 

Corporation offices on or about January 9th, 1992. I 

attended the January 9th negotiation sessions as Panda’s 

principal contract negotiator. Mr. Killian and other 

Panda personnel also attended the January 9th session, 

as did Allen Honey and certain other Florida Power 

Corporation representatives. 

We were aware at Panda, before the January 

9th, 1992 negotiation, of Florida Power Corporation’s 

concerns regarding the 30-year term. 

These concerns, and other concerns of both 

parties regarding the standard offer contract, were 

discussed at the January 9th, 1992 negotiation session. 

No resolution of the term issue was arrived at on 

January 9th at that session. Panda did not agree to 

shorten the term to 20 years and Florida Power 

Corporation made no commitments either with regard to 
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che 30-year term or with regard to the amount of the 

zapacity payments. These matters were discussed, but no 

sgreements were reached. In fact, this was decided 

Defore we went to the negotiation, that we had to find 

Dut what all the issues were before any concessions were 

made either way. 

And so resolution of these matters was arrived 

at either at the January 9th, 1992 meeting or at anytime 

prior to my resignation from Panda during February 

1993. My prefiled testimony also treats advice that I 

gave to Panda personnel on or about October loth, 1992. 

At that time the issue of concerns of both parties with 

regard to the term of the contract still had not been 

resolved, and there was the issue of a size of the plant 

that still was unresolved and to what as-available 

energy might be at that point, if the plant was built 

larger than the 75 megawatts. Various configurations 

had been considered. I don't recall the exact figures, 

but from somewhere near the 75 megawatts to something 

well over 100 megawatts. 

During that meeting, attended by Panda 

employees, I believe it was Mr. Dietz, Mr. Killian -- 
let's see who else. Mr. Dietz, Mr. Killian, 

Mr. Lindloff, and Donald Kinney. I was asked a number 

of questions, which I had been asked to research before 
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that, to research both the standard offer contract and 

the law as I understood it. And my advice was that the 

standard offer contract provided for a committed 

capacity of less than 75 megawatts, hence the 74.9 

megawatt bid; number two, that there was no mechanism in 

the contract to increase the 74.9 percent megawatt 

capacity; and lastly, that Florida Power Corporation may 

or may not be required to accept as-available energy 

generated by a capacity in excess of 74.9 percent. I 

had no question but what energy associated with 74.9 

percent megawatts was -- fit within the definition of 
as-available energy. I did not know whether or not 

energy associated with any capacity in excess of 74.9 

percent megawatts would be treated as as-available 

energy under Florida regulations. That concludes my 

summary. 

MR. FROESCHLE: I would tender Mr. Gwynn for 

cross-examination at this time. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Mr. Ross? 

MR. ROSS: Your Honor, just for the record, I 

would move to strike that last portion of his summary 

where he talked about an opinion as to the as-available 

energy over 74.9 megawatts. I don't see that in his 

direct prefiled testimony at all. I don't see anything 

about such an opinion in his direct prefiled testimony. 
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CHAIRMAN CLARK: It's Mr. Froeschle, isn't 

it? Can you respond to that, please? 

MR. FROESCHLE: I believe on Page 8 of his 

testimony he states, III also voice the opinion that this 

was a relatively slight change, applicable only to a 

plant designed to achieve a 74.9 megawatt capacity and 

not one designed to achieve a capacity greater than 74.9 

megawatts.Il I believe he's touched on the issue and 

that his summary is possibly different words but of the 

same character. 

MR. ROSS: I'm sorry. I'm sorry, I see the 

sentence now that he's referring to. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: All right, so you withdraw 

the objection. Thank you. Mr. Ross. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. ROSS: 

Q Mr. Gwynn, I have just a couple of questions 

for you. You're a defendant in a lawsuit as we sit here 

today, brought against you and many other people by 

Panda Energy Corporation; are you not, sir? 

A That's correct. It's mentioned in my prefiled 

testimony. 

Q And you are being sued by Panda Energy for 

having stolen corporate opportunities of Panda Energy 

Corp. while you were employed by Panda Energy; isn't 
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that the basis of the claim? 

A I don't think that's the way it's styled. 

That may be your interpretation. 

Q That is basically the basis of the claim; is 

it not, sir? 

A There are a lot more aspects to it than that. 

Q That's certainly one of them? 

A No, not as stolen. 

Q That you usurped corporate opportunities? 

A That's the term used. 

Q You like that term better? 

A I don't like either term. 

Q So you are being sued for having usurped 

corporate opportunities of Panda Energy Corp. while you 

were employed by Panda Energy Corp.; is that correct? 

A I'm being sued, along with Billbank Tweed, 

Enterge Corporation, Morgan Stanley and others, 

Allstate. 

Q You said in your summary of your testimony a 

moment ago that you told the folks at Panda that you 

didn't know whether or not Florida Power Corporation 

would be required to accept at as-available energy 

prices the capacity generated in excess of 75 megawatts 

by this proposed facility. 

correctly? 

Did I understand you 
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A Yes, the portion of the energy associated with 

the excess over 74.9, that is correct. 

Q You remember that you were deposed in the 

federal court proceeding; you mentioned that in your 

summary? 

A Yes, on October 6 of last year. 

Q And do you recall at Page 137 of that 

deposition, you were asked the following question and 

gave the following answer, beginning at Line 10: "What 

opinion did you render as to the as-available energy 

i s sue ? 

And your answer was: !'That the Florida Power 

Corporation would be required to purchase as-available 

energy. It 

A That is correct, and that would be my 

testimony now. The question was not -- the question 
addressed -- they were clearly required to develop -- 
the question was, what was as-available energy. Florida 

Power Corporation was required to purchase as-available 

energy, and my response there did not address what 

as-available energy was. 

Q Wouldn't that be the energy over and above the 

74.9 megawatts? 

A Not necessarily. It could be any energy 

The as-available produced that was not purchased. 
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energy, as I understand it, would be whatever energy 

Florida Power had not purchased, and it could be under 

the 74.9 percent megawatts as well. 

Q Well, you understood that under this standard 

offer contract, Florida Power was required to purchase 

the first 74.9 megawatts of committed capacity; I think 

you said that, correct? 

A Of capacity, not energy. 

Q And they also had -- well they had to pay a 
capacity payment for that, correct? 

A For capacity, but energy is a separate issue. 

Q They also paid an energy payment for that; 

didn't they? 

A That was not my understanding. 

Q That was not your understanding of the 

contract? 

A No, it was not. 

Q Have you gone back and looked at the contract? 

A I haven't had occasion to go back and look at 

it. I don't think the contract required the purchase of 

energy of that amount. The as-available energy, the 

question is, what was the definition of as-available 

energy in the plan. 

Q Okay, but just so that I understand, it was 

your opinion that Florida Power had to buy all of the 
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2nergy, correct? 

A No, that's not correct. 

Q At as-available rates? 

A No, you're mischaracterizing it. 
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My opinion 

aas that if they purchased as-available energy, they 

aould have to buy some portion of it, at least the 

snergy associated with 7 4 . 9  megawatts, not necessarily 

the energy associated with the capacity over that. 

Q Is it correct, sir, that -- you recall that 
the in-service and construction commencement dates were 

extended, right, in this contract? 

A Yes. I don't recall when I -- when that 
happened, but yes, I do know that it has happened. 

Q You recall that it was as early as October 

1992 that it was actually a desire on Florida Power's 

part to delay the in-service dates of this? 

A I do recall that. It was Florida Power 

Corporation's desire. 

MR. ROSS: Thank you. I have no further 

questions. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Thank you, Mr. Ross. Staff? 

MS. BROWN: Staff has no questions. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Redirect? 

Excuse me. Commissioners, do you have any 

quest ions? 
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(No response. ) 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Redirect. 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. FROESCHLE: 

Q Mr. Gwynn, you were asked some questions about 

the litigation you're engaged in with Panda. 

describe for us briefly what that litigation is? 

Could you 

A I'm not sure you could describe it briefly. I 

think the legal fees have exceeded two and a quarter 

million dollars for everybody concerned. I don't know 

that I can give it. Panda basically is claiming that 

projects that we developed in our new company in 

Indonesia were projects that they had developed and that 

we had taken from them. Not the case at all. They're 

different locations. Panda submitted bids in June of 

1991 for certain Indonesian projects, unsolicited bids 

that had a self-destruct date of September 1991. They 

didn't visit again, with the exception of one visit to 

Jakarta, Indonesia, and did not follow up. They did not 

follow up sales efforts after we left. We have two 

projects in entirely different locations, and those are 

the ones that they claim we took, I guess under the 

presumption since they tried to do business in 1991 in 

Indonesia, that we were precluded forever from doing so, 

along with Morgan Stanley and Allstate and a lot of the 
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qorld. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Morgan Stanley and who else? 

WITNESS GWYNN: They've sued Allstate Life 

Cnsurance, Allstate Insurance, Morgan Stanley, 

Investment Bankers, Billbank Tweed, Enterge and 20 some 

lefendants. 

partners, whom we didn't even meet until a year and a 

nalf after we left Panda. They were just excluded under 

B special appearance this past week. 

BY MR. FROESCHLE: 

They also then added our Indonesian 

Q Mr. Gwynn, do you own any stock in Panda? 

A My family and I own 200,000 shares, a 

substantial block. 

Q Are you an employee of Florida Power in any 

respect? 

A No, I am not. 

MR. FROESHLE: I have no other questions. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Thank you. Thank you, 

Mr. Gwynn. You're excused. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: I suppose you move the 

admission of Exhibit 22?  

MR. FROESCHLE: Yes, Madam Chairman, I would 

move for the admission of Exhibit No. 22. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Without objection, Exhibit 22 

is admitted. 
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(Exhibit No. 22 received into evidence.) 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Thank you, Mr. Gwynn. 

(Witness Gwynn excused.) 

* * * 
CHAIRMAN CLARK: Mr. Killian. 

RALPH KILLIAN 

was called as a witness on behalf of Panda-Kathleen, 

L.P., and having been duly sworn, testified as follows: 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Mr. Ross, go ahead. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. ROSS: 

Q Would you state your name and address for the 

record, please? 

A My name is Ralph Killian. I work at 4100 

Spring Valley in Dallas, Texas. 

Q And your present position is what? 

A Senior vice president of Panda Energy. 

Q Mr. Killian, do you have before you a document 

that constitutes the prefiled direct testimony that you 

have filed in this case? 

A Yes, I do. 

Q And just so that the record is clear, do you 

also have a short excerpt from the prefiled testimony in 

this case that's bound in a separate red cover? 

A Yes, I do. 
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Q Commissioners, as I understand, the separately 

bound volume was the small portion of his testimony for 

which a claim of confidentiality was made, but I now 

understand, if I’m correct, that the claim to 

confidentiality has been withdrawn, so that therefore 

his entire direct testimony can go in without issue. 

MR. McGEE: Yes, Madam Chairman. Florida 

Power never had made a claim for that portion of the 

testimony, but Panda, out of consideration for our claim 

of consideration regarding the underlying document, had 

redacted that portion of his testimony. Since it 

doesn’t refer to the small part of the exhibit that is 

confidential, we have no concern about his testimony. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: I’m sorry, Mr. McGee, I 

didn‘t understand what you just said. You need to speak 

louder. Go ahead. 

MR. McGEE: Florida Power had a claim for 

confidentiality of a small portion of Mr. Killian’s 

exhibit. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Which exhibit? 

MR. McGEE: RK-5, and it was four lines on 

Page 5. Because of that claim that Florida Power had 

with respect to the document, when Panda prepared 

Mr. Killian‘s testimony, all reference to that overall 

exhibit, RK-5, was redacted. The content of that 
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testimony never addressed the small portion of the 

exhibit that was confidential, and we have never 

asserted a claim of confidentiality with respect to the 

testimony. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Okay. So the entire 

testimony, prefiled direct testimony of Mr. Ralph 

Killian, can be inserted in the record as though read 

without any portions of it being treated at 

confidential? 

M R .  McGEE: Yes, ma'am. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Now, I guess I need some more 

direction from you all as to the prefiled testimony. I 

noted -- I assumed when I was reading the testimony that 
where you didn't complete -- for instance, on Page 3 

where you ended at Line 11, that the rest of it was 

confidential. I guess -- apparently that's an error. 

MR. ROSS: That's just a page break. That's 

just the way it came out. 

with the redacting and we had to get it filed, some 

things didn't come out right, but no, there's nothing 

missing there. 

When we started doing this 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Let me just be clear. In 

your red copy, what we should -- we should substitute 
the pages in the red copy for the pages you have in the 

prefiled testimony? 
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MR. ROSS: That is correct. That's the only 

Sdditions. That's correct. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Just so the record is -- are 
there any other additions or corrections to this 

testimony? Have you gotten that far? 

M R .  ROSS: I haven't asked that question yet. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Go ahead. 

BY MR. ROSS: 

Q Mr. Killian, are there any additions or 

corrections to your prefiled testimony that you wish to 

make? 

A No, there are not. 

Q And if you were asked the same questions here 

today, would you give the same answers today? 

A Yes, I would. 

MR. ROSS: We would then tender into the 

record as though read the prefiled testimony of Ralph 

Killian. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: All right, the prefiled 

direct testimony of Mr. Ralph Killian will be inserted 

in the record as though read, and let the record reflect 

that the separately provided pages of pages 5, 24 and 

25, will be -- in the red folder, will be substituted 
for what is currently 5, 24 and 25. 

MR. ROSS: That is correct. 
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CHAIRMAN CLARK: Go ahead, Mr. Ross. 

MR. ROSS: Let me just deal with the 

2xhibits. 

3Y MR. ROSS: 

Q Mr. Killian, attached to your prefiled 

cestimony you have a set of exhibits that are marked 

there as RK-1 through RK-15, correct? 

A That is correct. 

Q And those are the exhibits that are referred 

to in your direct testimony? 

A That's correct. 

Q I would tender in as composite exhibit then 

No. 23, the exhibits to Mr. Killian's direct testimony. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: 

MR. ROSS: 15. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: 

Composite Exhibit 23. 

(Exhibit No. 23 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: 

Okay, RK-1 through -- 

-- RK-15 will be marked as 

marked for identification.) 

Go ahead. 
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BEFORE THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 

TESTIMONY OF RALPH KILLIAN 

ON BEHALF OF PANDA-KATHLEEN, L.P. 

DOCKET NO. 950110-E1 

I CAT1 ON 

Q. Please state your name, profession, and business 

address. 
.. 

A. My name is Ralph Killian. I am the Senior Vice 

President of Panda Energy International, Inc. Panda 

Energy International, Inc. is engaged in the 

development and operation of cogeneration facilities. 

Panda-Kathleen, L. P. ("Panda") is engaged in the 

development of a qualified cogeneration facility in 

Lakeland, Florida pursuant to a contract between Panda 

and Florida Power Corporation ("Florida Power"). My 

business address is 4100 Spring Valley, Dallas, Texas 

7 5 2 4 4 .  

Q. State briefly your educational and professi-anal 

background. 
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A .  I earned a B.S. degree in chemical engizeering from the 

University of Florida in 1969. From 1969 to 1980, I 

held various engineering staff and management positions 

at AMOCO Production Company. From 1988 to 1989, I was 

Senior Vice president of Texas Eastern Gas Pipeline 

Company, where I was responsible for all markethg, 

supply and transportation for the Texas Eastern 

interstate natural gas pipeline serviq the northeast 

United States. 

Q. On whose behalf are you appearing in this proceeding? 

A .  I am appearing on behalf of Panda-Kathleen, L.P. 

Q. Please describe your duties with Panda Energy 

International, Inc. 

A. I am the Senior Vice President cf Panda Energy 

International, Inc.. I .  am responsitls for business 

development, sales, project development, f u e l  

- 2 -  
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procurement and management, and certain other 

functions. 1 had, and continue to have ,  overall 

responsibility €or the Panda-Kathleen, L.P. project, 

among other matters. I have been with Panda Energy 

6 International, Inc. and its predecessor: Panda Energy 

Corporation, since 1989. . 

9 

10 

Have you ever testified before the Florida Public 

Service Commission? 

No, I have not. 

, 

- 3 -  
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Q. What is the purpose of your testimony? 

A .  The purpose of my testimony is to state the facts 

underlying Panda's contract with Florida Power 

Corporation, obligating Panda to furnish wholesale 

electric power for 30 years at a net 74.9 MW or greater 

of capacity, under all operating conditions, and 

obligating Florida Power to purchase that power at 

rates as calculable in the contract. My testimony will 

also state the facts of Panda's discussions with 

Florida Power Corporation from 1991-1995 relating to 

these contractual issues. 

Q. Are you sponsoring an exhibit in this case? 

A .  Yes. It consists of seventeen documents. 

Dccument No. 1 is a Standard Offer Contract 

Questionnaire Panda received from Florida Power in 

September 1991. 21 
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Document No. 2 is Panda's response to that 

questionnaire, which it delivered to Florida Power in 

October 1991. 

Document No. 3 is Florida Power's "Evaluation Of 

Standard Offer Proposals," dated November 1991. 

Document No. 4 is a Florida Power document entitled 

"Negotiated Contract For The Purchase Of Firm Capacity 

And Energy From A Qualifying Facility," which was 

provided to Panda in February 1991. 

Document No. 5 is an internal Florida Power study, 
entitled 
Qualifying Facility (CoGeneration) Furchases," dated December, 1991. 

Cogeneration Review; an Assessment of Florida Power's 

Document No. 6 is Panda's Quarterly Progress Report to 

Florida Power, dated June 20, 1994. 

Document No. 7 is a June 23, 1994 letter from Ted 

Hollon to David Gammon. 

- 5 -  
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Document N o .  8 is  a J u l y  2 7 ,  1 9 9 4  l e t t e r  from Ted 

Hollon t o  David Gammon. 

Document N o .  9 i s  an August 3 ,  1 9 9 4  l e t t e r  from David 

Gammon t o  Ted Hollon. 

Document N o .  10 is an  August 8 ,  1 9 9 4  l e t t e r  from Ralph 

T .  K i l l i a n  t o  David Gammon. 

.) 

Document N o .  11 is an August 1 0 ,  1 9 9 4  l e t t e r  from Kyle 

Woodruff t o  Robert D .  Dolan. 

Document N o .  12 i s  an August 23, 1 9 9 4  l e t t e r  from 

Barrett G. Johnson t o  Joseph D .  Jenkins  of t he  F lo r ida  

Publ ic  S e n i c e  Commission. 

Document N o .  13 i s  an August 2 4 ,  J 9 9 4  l e t t e r  from 

Joseph Jenkins  of t h e  F lo r ida  Publ ic  Serv ice  Commission 

t o  B a r r e t t  Johnson. 
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1 Document N o .  1 4  is Robert D. Dolan, "Financial 

2 Incentives For Power Purchases: A Utility's View," 

3 presented at the Gulf Coast Cogeneration Association, 

4 1992 Spring Meeting, held April 21, 1992. 

5 

6 Document N o .  15 is an April 29, 1993 letter from Robert 

10 111. 

Dolan to Mark Bentley, extending the milestone dates 

-.. under the contract. 

11 Q. Please describe the process by which Panda responded to 

12 Florida Power Corporation's Standard Offer Contract 

13 Questionnaire in October 1991. 

14 

15 A .  In September 1991, Panda received a Standard Offer 

16 Contract Questionnaire from Florida Power (attached 

17 hereto as "Exhibit 1"). Among the questions posed in 

18 that questionnaire was the committed capacity of a 

19 Panda facility. When Panda responded to that 

2 0  questionnaire in October 1991 (attached hereto as 

- 7 -  
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"Exhibit 2 " ) ,  it offered to provide Florida Power with 

74.9 MW of committed capacity for a thirty-year term. 

Q .  Was Panda successful i n  its b id  €o r  the Flo r ida  Power 

' Contract? 

A. Y e s .  After reviewing Panda's response and 'the 

responses of six other bidders, Florida Power chose to 

contract with Panda. On November 19, 1991 and on 

November 26, 1991, Florida Power petitioned the Public 

Service Commission for authority to refuse standard 

offer contracts from cogenerators other than Panda. 

On October 22, 1992, the Commission granted the 

petition, finding that "Florida Power Corporation acted 

in the best interests of the ratepayers to select the 

contract which after a comparative evaluation was 

deemed by FPC to be the best available. We find that 

this action is consistent with the language ~f Rule 2 5 -  

17.0832(3) (d), F.A.C." . Order Granting Petition For 

Authority For Florida Power Corporation Tc Refuse All 

- a -  
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Standard Of fer Contracts Except That Submitted By P a n d a  

Kathleen, L . P .  ("Order") at 3 .  

Q. What obligations did the Panda-Florida Power contract 

impose on the parties with respect to the capacity of a 

facility? 

A. The contract discussed capacity in several paragraphs. 

Among these references were the following: 

(a) Paragraph 1.9 defined committed capacity as 

the "KW capacity, as defined in Article VI hereof, 

which the QF has agreed to make available on a firm 

basis at the Point of Delivery. 

(b) Paragraph 2.1 limited the availability of the 

Agreement to the available capacity limitations 

described in Schedule 1 of Appendix C and being either 

a solia.waste facility or a facilicy having a Committed 

Capacity of less than 75,000 KW. 
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(c) In Paragraph 6.1, Panda committed to sell and 

arrange for the delivery of the Committed Capacity t 3  

Florida Power Corporation. Further in that Article, 

Florida Power contracted to purchase the Committed 

Capacity made available to it at the Point of Delivery. 

In addition, in the last sentence of that Article, 

Panda agreed to sell and deliver or arrange €or 

delivery of the electric energy to the company and 

Florida Power Corporation agreed to purchase such 

electric energy as is made available for sale and 

received by it at the Point of Delivery. 

(d) Paragraph 6.2 states that the Committed 

Capacity and electrical energy made available to 

Florida Power shall be net of any electrical energy on 

Panda's side of the Point of Ownership. 

(e) Schedule 4 of Appendix C refers to a 

multiplier for the On-Peak Capacity 'actor ("0PCF"i 

which must be greater than or equal t'c the Committed 

- 10 - 



2 2 4  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

* 13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

2 0  

21 

Q. 

A. 

OPCF, clearly recognizing that on-peak capacity would 

be greater than the Committed Capacity. 

( f )  Energy sales in excess of the committed 

capacity as referred to in Paragraphs 6.1, 6.2 and 6.3 

are clearly contemplated by Schedule 5 of Appendix C, 

which describes an optional payment plan for such 

excess energy sales. Appendix C encouraged Panda to 

participate in this payment plan by providing such 

excess energy for sale to Florida Power. While Panda 

did not elect this payment program, the fact remains 

that the availability of such a program would serve no 

purpose absent the availability of energy production in 

excess of the committed capacity, and Florida Power's 

obligation to purchase that excess energy. 

How did the Panda-Florida Power contract bind the 

parties to an expres~ contract length? 

Article 4.1 shows the term of the Agreement beginning 

on the execution date (November 2 5 ,  1991) ana 

L 

- 11 - 
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terminating on the last day of March 2 0 2 5 .  Florida 

Power acknowledged this in its November 1991 

"Evaluation Of Standard Offer Proposals," (attached 

hereto as "Exhibit 3"), repeatedly describing the 

contract term as 30 years. This document was submitted 

to the Commission by Florida Power in its petition for 

authority to refuse standard offer contracts from 

cogenerators other than Panda, and was admitted as 

Exhibit 1 in that proceeding. 

. 
Q. Did Panda understand the term "committed capacity" to 

be synonymous with the net size of the plant?  

A. At no time did Panda ever understand committeci capacity 

to be synonymous with net size. The contract does not 

state a net size limitation, and moreover, Florida 

Power never indicated to Panda that it understood that 

the term "committed capacity" represented a 74.9 MW 

absolute size limitation. At all times, as described 

below, Florida Power Corporation's representaLives were 

in accord with the irrefutable engineiring realities 

- 12 - 
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that to produce 

all conditions, 

greater than 74 

74.9 MW of committed capacity, under 

a facility must have a net capacity 

9 MW. From the very beginning of the 

contracting process, in responding to a questionnaire 

that Florida Power sent to Panda inviting submission of 

a contract proposal, Panda indicated that its equipment 

choice at that time was three Stewart & Stevenson/GE LM 

2500 turbine generator sets. Such equipment, with a 

heat generator and 

capable of producing 

steam turbine-generator would be 

at least 87-95 MW at 59' F. 

- 13 - 
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Q. You referred to irrefutable engineering realities 

relevant to the capacity of a generator. What do you 

mean by that? 

A .  There are a variety of factors that affect the actual 

output of a generator. A generator's actual output 

varies, depending on (a) the frame size, (b) age, k) 

maintenance, (d) ambient air temperature, (e) humidity, 

( f )  elevation above sea level, (g) BTU rating of the 

fuel from time to time, (h) condenser cooling water 

temperature, and many other factors. It ignores these 

realities to speak of a generating unit as having a 

specific capacity without defining all the variable 

conditions. It also follows that the capacity of a 

generating unit will vary with changes in these 

variables. As a practical matter, to comply with its 

contractual commitment to produce the committed 

capacity for thirty years during summer Conditions or 

other challenging environmental conditicns while 

complying with Florida's strict emissions regulations, 

Panda had to be acutely sensitive to each. of chese  

- 1 4  - 
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variables during the process of selecting an 

appropriate equipment configuration. 

. 
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'I ST- OFFRR" CQNTRACTS AND "NEGOTIATED" CONTRACTS 

Q. What experience did Panda have with the contractual 

provisions in Florida Power's tlnegotiatedR contracts? 

A .  In January and February 1991, Panda participated in the 

process by which Florida Power Selected a "negotiated 

contract'' for the purchase of firm capacity and energy 

from a qualifying facility. &.e "Negotiated Contract 

For The Purchase Of Firm Capacity And Energy From A 

Qualifying Facility (attached heret3 as "Exhibit 4") . 

This process contained no true negotiation, rather 

consisting of Florida Power providing qualifying 

facilities ("QF") with proposed contracts and then 

soliciting suggestions from those QF's. Florida Power 

then reviewed the suggestions and decided which 

suggestions it would accept. Those accepted 

suggestions, and any other new provisions that Florida 

Power decided to incorporate, were incorporated into 

all contracts, standardizing the "negotiated contract." 

- 16 - 
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In those discussions, Panda was told by Florida Power 

that there would be no negotiation of contract terms, 

and "negotiated contracts" containing changes when 

returned by QF's to Florida Power would be disfavored. 

I have since learned that the "negotiated contractI1 and 

the standard offer contract were developed by Florida 

Pcwer from a "model contract." Hence, it is 

unsurprising that there are so many ' striking 

similarities in the provisions of those contracts, 

especially those provisions relevant to this dispute. . 

13 

1.4 V. F: IN-SERVICE DATE 

15 Q. What did Panda personnel do to meet the in-service date 

16 set forth in the contract? 

17 

18 

19 

2 0  

21 

A. After the execution of the contract, Panda personnel 

began to solicit bids to construct the facility. 

Initially, we had planned to construct a plant using a 

gas turbine with an average output of between 75 and 95 

- 17 - 
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MW. However, after examining the available turbines 

and analyzing projected Panda Kathleen operations with 

respect to the temperatures, humidity and elevation 

common to Polk County and considering typical equipment 

. degradation patterns and state environmental mandates, 

and the other factors discussed above on pages 10 and 

11, it became clear that it would be impossible for 

Panda to ensure that it could produce the committed 

capacity of 74.9 MW for each day of the thirty year 

contractual term without a net generating -capacity of 

at least 100 M W .  Therefore, we decided to consider a 

turbine with power output of 100 MW to ensure that we 

could always meet the contractually agreed committed 

capacity and avoid defaulting on our contractual 

obligations to Florida Power. 

In this process, a change in the environmental 

regulations promulgated by the Florida Department of 

Environmental Protection ("FDEP") played a critical 

role. In 1992, by the time that this Commission had 

granted Florida Power's petition to refuse ail standard 

- 18 - 
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offer contracts other than Panda's, the FDEP had 

lowered its acceptable limit on a gas combustion 

turbine's nitrogen oxide emissions from 25 parts per 

million ("PPM") to 15 PPM. As a result, certain 

configurations Panda had previously considered would no 

longer meet the standards set by the FDEP's 

regulations. 

- -  
Q. What discussions did Panda have with Florida Power 

after Florida Power and Panda executed their contract, 

to ensure that Panda would meet the contractual 

milestones? 

A .  Beginning in January 1992, Panda representatives and 

Florida Power representatives had numerous face-to-face 

discussions and telephone conferences to implement the 

contract and prepare for the in-service date. 

On January 9, 1992, I attended a meeting with Florida 

Power to discuss our aqreement and several areas that 

needed clarification. Allen Honey, whom I b e l i e v e  -was 

- 15 - 
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Florida Power Corporation’s Senior Cogeneration 

Engineer at that time, led the Florida Power team in 

attendance. At that meeting, Florida Power told us 

that while it would pay Panda for our energy output in 

excess of 74.9 MW, the contract limited their 

obligation to pay €or capacity in excess of 74.9 M W .  

This comported with our understanding of our agreem’ent 

as well as with the engineering reality discussed 

above, namely that a facility capable of producing 74.9 

MW of output at all times during a thirty year contract 

will, much of the time, be capable of generating more 

than 74.9 MW. 

In addition, at that January meeting, we discussed the 

fact that while the parties had agreed to a 30 year 

contract term and tk.e contractual terms themselves 

reflected this, Schedule 3 to Appendix C to the 

contract only showed 20 years of payments. Florida 

Power acknowledged that this was an inadvertent error 

that needed to be corrected. Florida Power agreed that 

(i) Panda would receive capacity payments for the 

- Z G  - 
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entire 30-year term of the contract, and ( 2 )  Florida 

Power's payments would escalate over the contract term 

not shown in the tables in Schedule 3 to Appendix C at 

a rate of 5.1% per year. 

Florida Power stated that ' Schedule 3 was an 

illustrative table on ly  and not a modification of the 

30 year term. They explained that contract payments 

for years 21-30 of the contract had been omitted from 

Schedule 3 simply because the applicable reslations 

required illustration of only ten years or more 

of payments. 

Was this consistent with Florida Power's previous 

evaluation of the value of Panda's proposal to the 

ratepayers and to Florida Power? 

Yes. When it had decided to contract with Panda in 

October 1991, Florida Power had used  a calculus of 

factors to rate the proposals. Ir-A the ?valuation 

- 21 - 
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containing that calculus, which it submitted to this 1 

Commission in November 1991, Florida Power had rated 2 

Panda's proposal as clearly the best offer for the 3 

rate-payers and €or avoiding expensive replacement 

power. In its calculus, size, which Florida Power 

4 

5 .  

defined as "the committed capacity," was weighted as 6 

comprising 10% of the ranking. On the other hand, 7 

feasibility was weighted at 40% and reliability at 30%. a 

Location and developer qualifications were weighted 9 

equally with size. In its October 22, 1992 Order 10 

granting Florida Power's petition €or authority to 11 

refuse all standard offer contracts except that 

submitted by Panda, this Commission held that "the 

criteria used to evaluate the various proposals were 

valid, reasonable and fairly applied." Order at 5. 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

10 

Q. D i d  Florida Power's behavior remain consistent with its 

November 1991 evaluation of Panda's proposal? 

19 

2 0  

suddenly began taking the approach that it was 
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unwilling to state in writing that Panda's equipment 

configuration was permissible under o ~ r  contract. Up 

until the middle of 1994, Florida Power had 

consistently agreed with Panda representatives that a 

* plant with a net generating capacity under certain 

conditions in excess of 74.9 MW was a technical 

necessity, and had suggested not raising the issue with 

the Florida Public Service Commission so as to not 

interrupt the challenge by ARK Enerqy to' Florida 

Power's having chosen our contract. Zowever, in the 

second half of 1994, Florida Power abruptly refused Co 

sign any documents or clarif ica:ion letters for lenders 

confirming our equipment khoice. 

Until this time, Florida Power had treated Panda as 

offering the most feasible and reliable option €or  its 

cusizomers and shareholders. After its sudden change, 

whereas facility size was previously rc: an issue, it 

suddenly emerged a s  the 100% triter;,:. In revisin9 

its evaluation process, Florida Power ac:ed in a manner - 

- 2 3  - 
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inconsistent with its previous representations and its 

November 1991 ranking process. 

Q. Do you know of any reason f o r  this remarkable change in 

attitude by Florida Power? 

A. In an internal, confidential December 1993 document 

entitled '!Cogeneration Review, I t  Florida Power 

essentially declared its intention to limit, if not 

undermine, QF contracts whenever possible. see 

"Cogeneration Review, II dated December 1993 (attached 

hereto as "Exhibit S I 1 ) .  In that document, in 

discussing the QF contracts it had already bound itself 

to for nearly 1,100 MW of capacity, Florida Power 

deciared that "at the present time, the QF contracts 

are not cost effective when compared to FPC built 

natural gas fired combined cycle units . . . .  [Florida 

Power's] resources need to be assigned to properly 

evaluate and implement, if feasible, all of the options 

available to increase the cost-effectiveness of the QF 

contracts. These contracts pose a significant threat 

- 24 - 
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to FPC's competitive position. I '  .See Cogeneration 

Review at 4, 5. There, Florida Power cited several 

miscalculations it had made on issues such as the 

capacity dropout rate and the cost-effectiveness of its 

avoided cost projection. At no time did it refer to 

any problem due to Panda or any other QF. 

Q. What did Panda do to try to resolve this dispute? 

A. Florida Power demonstrated it's revised attitude 

following Panda's June 3, 1994 application to the 

Florida Department of Environmental Protection ( "FDEP" 1 

for an Air Permit f o r  Construction of the facility with 

a nominal output of 115 MW. In that application, 

Panda had submitted two configurations: oEe based on 

the General Electric ("GE") 7EA Combustion turbine and 

the other based on the ABB Power Generation ALBB 11N1. 

Representatives of Panda and Florida Power met on June 

22, 1994 to discuss the excess energy which could be 

produced by either of those configurations. At that 

I i  - 25 - 
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meeting, Panda informed Florida Power of this submittal 
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3 

4 
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6 

and equipment configurations in ? a r . ~ a ' s  Quarterly 

Progress Report dated June 20, 1 9 0 4 .  See Panda's 

Quarterly Progress Report to Florida Power, dated June 

20, 1994. (attached hereto as "Exhibit 6 " )  
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Following discussions, the parties agreed that Panda 

would compose a clarification letter for b o t h  parties' 

signatures confirming the equipment configuration ana 

the sale of excess energy produced by :he facility to 

Florida Power. 

On June 23, 1994, Panda sent a clarification letter to 

Florida Power for its signature neTorializing the 

parties' June 22, 1994 discussions 5.z= June 23, 1994 

letter from Ted Hollon to David Gammcz attached hereto 

as "Exhibit 7 " )  Vet, Florida Power refused to sigr.  

this letter. On July 27, 1994, Parsc. sent a revised 

clarification letter to Florida Power f3:- ~ t s  signature 

- -. .. .= - t the twc scating, amonq other things, 

- 2 6  - 
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conf igura t ions  submit ted t o  the  FOE? were being 

permit ted i n  o r d e r  t o  meet t h e  cornr::tea c a p a c i t y  

requirements of t h e  c o n t r a c t  a s  wel l  a s  t he  c u r r e n t  

environmental requirements  i n  t h e  S t a t e  of F l o r i d a .  

& J u l y  2 7 ,  1 9 9 4  l e t t e r  from Ted Hollon t o  Davld 

Gammon ( a t t a c h e d  h e r e t o  a s  "Exhib i t  8 " )  The r e v i s e d  - 
l e t t e r  f u r t h e r  s t a t e d  t h a t  a l though under c e r t a i n  s i t e  

opera t ing  c o n d i t i o n s  t h e  f a c i l i t y ' s  output  would be 1 1 5  

MW, F lor ida  Power would not  be o b l i g a t e d  t o  make any 

capac i ty  payments above t h e  7 4 . 9  MW of committed 

capac i ty .  F i n a l l y ,  t h e  l e t t e r  s t a t e d  t h a t  Panda had no 

ob jec t ion  t o  F l o r i d a  Power submi t t in9  t h i s  l e t t e r  t o  

t h i s  Commission i f  F lo r ida  Power deemed i t  necessary .  , 

On August 3 ,  1 9 9 4 ,  Panda rece ived  a rep ly  from F lo r ida  

Power r e fus ing  t o  s i g n  the  r ev i sed  l e t z e r .  See August 

3 ,  1 9 9 4  le : ter  from David Gammon t o  Ted Hollon 

(actached h e r e t o  a s  "Exhib i t  9 " ) .  I n  i t s  r e p l y ,  

- 1  t - r i r i S a  Power s t a t e d  t h a t  i t  d i d  nsr agree t h a t  t h e  

- 2 7  
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the contract. However, Florida Power ignored the issue 

of presenting any dispute to this Commission. 

In response, Panda initiated telephone conversations 

' with Florida Power to resolve these new'differences. 

These conversations seemed to have proved successful. 

As a result, on August 8, 1994, Panda submitted a third 

letter to Florida Power for its signature under the 

impression that this second revised clarification 

letter would be acceptable to Florida Power. see 

August 8, 1994 letter from Ralph T. Killian to Robert 

Dolan (attached hereto as "Exhibit 10"). This letter 

reiterated that the facility size was 115 MW and added 

that Panda would submit the executed letter to the 

Commission to determine if Commission approval is 

required. Nothing in that letter prevented Florida 

Power from intervening or from taking any position in 

any such action at the Commission. Florida Power 

refused to sign this clarification letter as well. In 

a subsequent telephone conversation,' Florida Power 

- 2 0  - 



2 4 2  

1 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

simply told Panda that it saw no advancage in Florida 

Power signing the letter. 

On August 10, 1994, Panda sent a letter to Mr. Dolan 

re-emphasizing Panda's understanding thar the equipment 

it had selected was appropriate under the Contract 

August 10, 1994 letter from Kyle Woodruff to 

Robert D. Dolan (attached hereto as "Exhibit 11") 

Panda also informed Mr. Dolan that -: intended to 

consult with the Commission to determire if this issue 

required Commission approval. 

. 
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Q. Did Panda discuss Florida Power's apparent concerns 

about the equipment configuration with any 

representative of the Florida Public Service 

Commission? 

A .  Yes. On August 1 5 ,  1994, Panda representatives met 

with Joseph Jenkins, Director of the FPSCIs Division of 

Electric and Gas, as well as Robert Trapp and Thomas 

Ballenger of the FPSC. In that meeting, Panda's 

representatives set forth the two specific equipment 

configurations it was considering, and the fact :k.aL, 

"under optimal conditions these units can produce in 

the 115 MW range." In response, Mr. Jenkins and his 

colleagues agreed with Panda that Panda's generation of 

net generating capacity of 1 1 5  MW was "consistent with 

Panda's standard offer cclntract a ~ - d  is not a contrac: 

change that would rrTire Flcrida. Public Service 

Commisslon approval." S..ge Augus: 24, 1994 letter from 

Barrett Johnson t o  Jose;h Jenkins of t h e  Florida "~51:~ 

Service Commission !attached heretc as "Zxhibit 1 2 "  ' 
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Moreover, Mr. Jenkins stated that he had discussed 

this issue with Bob Dolan of Florida Power Corporation 

and Mr. Dolan concurred with Mr. Jenkins that this was 

a contractual matter between Panda and Florida Power 

that did not require PSC adjudication. August 23, 

1994 letter from Joseph Jenkins'of the Florida Public 

Service Commission to Barrett Johnson (attached hereto 

as llExhibit 13"). Based upon the express assurances of 

Mr. Jenkins, Panda moved forward with performing under 

the contract, continued with permitting the above 

_. 

equipment configurations, and felt it had satisfied the 

issue of facility size, despite Florida Power's lack of 

cooperation or initiative. 

At no time during this process or at any other time 

prior to filing the instant action did Florida Power 

give any indication that it intended to reintroduce 

this matter before the Commission. Panda only received 

notice of Florida Power's true intent after Florida 

Power had filed its Petition for Declaratory Statement 

with this Commission on January 25, 1995. 21 

- 31 - 
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2 VI. CATCULATION 0 F P A m E N T S  FO R YEARS 21 THROUGH 30  OF THE 
3 CONTRACT 

4 Q. How are capacity payments to be made to Panda f o r  years 

5 .  21 through 30 of the contract? 

6 

7 A .  Payments €or years 2 1  through 30 are EO be made-by 

8 applying the value deferral method. Payment through 

9 that method is consistent with the FPSC's regulations. 

3 2  



1 V I I .  B E W F  I T  OF THE CONTRACT TO F L O R U A  C I T I Z E W  
2 

3 Q. How would Florida Power's rate payers benefit from a 

4 Panda facility that provided energy in excess of the 

5 6 committed capacity? 

6 

7 A .  For the energy that Panda produces in excess of the ' 

8 committed capacity, Florida Power would be able to 

9 purchase that energy from Panda at a low rate. Under 

10 

11 

the contract, Florida Power is entitled to do so as it 

would pay Panda solely for the energy cost, without any 

12 ob1,igation to pay for the capacity based on the per-KW 

13 cost of Florida Power's avoided simple-cycle combustion 

14 turbine for 74.9 MW of capacity. As contemplated by 

15 the contract, this would provide Florida Power with 

16 free capacity. With the production of 115 MW of 

17 energy, Florida Power would receive 40.1 MW of free 

18 capacity. This would enhance che reliability ana 

19 profitability of Florida Power's service. 

2 0  

2 1  

2 2  

Mcreover, as Robert Dolan, Florida Power's Manager of 

Ccqeneracion Contracts ana Admir.rstration, t o l d  ~ b . 5  
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members of a cogeneration associaticn s:x months after 

Florida Power executed its contract w i t h  Panda ana s i x  

months before this Commission approved the contract, 

"The expected future need for capacity is great, 

therefore it is virtually certain that this 

[contracted] capacity will be needed. Florida ' s 

population keeps expanding even during recessionary 

periods, planned reserve margins are low, and there is 

significant reliance on demand-side management. These 

factors assure that there will be a market for this 

capacity FPC has under contract." See Robert D. Dolan, 

"Financial Incentives For Power Purchases: A Utility's 

View," presented at the Gulf Coast CogeneraLicn 

Association, 1992 Spring Meeting Held April 21, 1992 

(attached hereto as "Exhibit 14") . 

16 

17 

18 VIII. WHATIMPACTDID FTaORIDA POWER'S BcTIONS HA VE ON PAND A 

19 Q. What e f fec t  has Florida Power's refusal to honor i t s  

20 contract had on Panda? 

21 
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A .  Florida Power's actions in attemptinq t~ dishonor its 

contractual obligation ana seeking ts rewrite tb.e 

Panda-Florida Power contract to impose nsw obligations 

on Panda have had the absolutely predictable result of 

bringing Panda's financing of the Panda Kathleen 

facility to a halt. A s  no lender will cffer financing 

to a party for a project of this magnitude when the 

other party is doing everything in its power to avoid 

its contractual obligations, Panda's commitment has 

been placed on hold pending resolution of these 

disputed issues 

By December 16, 1994, ABB Power Generatien ("AEB") had 

begun engineering and material prOCUreme?.t to meet the 

required delivery dates. By January 11, 1995, Panda 

had obtained all construction permits ar.d efforts were 

well under way to obtain financing ar,d a n  equity 

partner for the project. Panda update.;, Florida Power 

on or about January 1, 1995, about :-.:s signlficant 

progress a s  required by t h e  Contract. 

21 
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Today, as there is no immediate financing available, 

Florida Power's actions have forced Panda to cancel its 

order for combustion and steam turbine generators with 

its supplier ABB and Panda has lost its place in the 

ABB production schedule. In addition, Panda has been 

forced out of the queue for the manufacture of other 

major components of its facility. 

. 
The forced delay in Panda's development of the project 

will be greater than the elapsed time lost from Florida 

Power's attempts to disown its contract. In other 

words, a day-for-day extension will not restore Panda 

to the position it occupied on the day prior to Florida 

Power's petition. Major pieces of generating equipment 

with long lead times are built by their manufacturer 

only when there is a firm equipment order in place and, 

if there is not a timely notice to proceed io tne 

manufacEurer, it normally means lengthy delays because 

the offering company will have to "go back to ;r.e end 

of the line" ana tne lead time varies qreatly del;endinq 

- -16 - 
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upon the volume of orders received by the manufaczurer 

at any given time. 

Each of these activities is part of a critical time 

path to commercial operation and to meeting the 

milestones set forth in the, Panda-Florida Power 

contract, as amended by the April 29, 1993 letter from 

Robert Dolan to Mark Bentley (attached hereto as 

"Exhibit 15"). Panda's ability to meet the 

construction start date of January 1, 1996 and the in- 

service date of January 1, 1997 has been jeopardized 

solely as a result of Florida Power's actions in 

attempting to disown the contract. 

Furcher, any delay beyond the expected date for 

commercial 0peratior.s c=sts Panda money in real terms 

even if the milestone dates are extended, because Panda 

will not recelve capacl-y payments or revenues from t h e  

sale of energy when they were expected pursuant tc K ~ E  

Contract. 
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Moreover, Panda has already spent substantial sums to 

perform under the contract, including, k: not limited 

to: purchasing land for the project sic?; contracting 

for environmental studies and permitting 3n the project 

site; surveying of the project site; caying Florida 

Power the $750,000 security deposit, ana >aying fees to 

contractors, consultants, lenders, and aczorneys. From 
% 

1991 to 1995, Panda expended these funds 20 ensure that 

it would meet a supplier's production sc?.edule, comply 

with all Florida permitting requirements ana meet the 

commercial in-service date. 

In sum, Panda will be unable to discover the ultimate 

effect of Florida Power's actions at least until a 

final adjudication of this contractual dispute has been 

obtained. 
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Q. Does Panda remain ready, willing and able to build this 

facility and commit 74.9 Mw of capacity f o r  30 years as 

called for in the contract? 

A .  Yes. 

Q. What is it you want this commission to do? 

A Deny Florida Power's petition. Panda cas asKed this 

Commission to rule that it does not havs ~urisjlction 

to now go back and reinterpret a contract thar it has 

approved on two separate occasions or, alternatively, 

to now rule that the Panda-Florida Power contract is 

void. Panda believes that issues of interpre:ation of 

this contract should be resolved by the courts. Of 

course, so long as this commission believes it has 

]urisdiction, Panda asks €or a ruling csny1r.q Florida 

Power's petition and holding that ( ? !  the equipment 

configuration Panda has chosen does T.CL v:s=late the 

contract, ( 2 )  Florida Power is obligated LLC psy f o r  t h e  

committed capacity a t  :ne rate set fo rzc  ir. .:.ppenaix C 
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as escalated at the same rate for :ne final 10 years, 

and (3) extending the contractual r:!esLcne schedule to 

provide Panda with sufficient time to rneet a revised 

construction start date and a revised in-sernce date. 

Anything less will destroy this cogeneration project 

in violation of the principles of PURPA, to the 

detriment of Florida's citizens. 

Q. Does this conclude your testimony? 

A .  Yes,  it does. 

- 40 - 
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Y MR. ROSS: 

Q Mr. Killian, would you please give us a 

munary of your direct testimony? 

A Thank you. My prefiled direct testimony 

:elates -- I relate to the facts underlying Panda's 
:ontract with Florida Power Corporation and my knowledge 

if involvement of Panda's communications with Florida 

?ower Corporation concerning some of the issues covered 

in this proceeding. 

xovides for a term of 30 years. 

:ontract requires that Panda supply at least 74.9 

negawatts of committed capacity to Florida Power 

:orPoration under all conditions. Standard offer 

:ontract does not limit the size of the facility. 

€act, the initial facility design at the time the 

standard offer contract was entered into was for a net 

output of between 87 and 95 megawatts under normal 

conditions. 

Power Corporation to our size or term until the second 

half of 1994. 

The standard offer contract 

This standard offer 

In 

There were no objections raised by Florida 

Because of climate conditions, performance 

degradations and revised emission standards in the state 

of Florida, Panda was required to design a facility of 

115 megawatts of net generating capacity. 

I was personally at a meeting in early 1992 
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rhere Florida Power Corporation representatives 

icknowledged that our facility would produce in excess 

>f 7 4 . 9  megawatts and that Florida Power Corporation 

qould accept and pay for such excess energy. Further, 

?lorida Power Corporation acknowledged in this meeting 

the discrepancy between the 30-year term of the contract 

tnd the 20-year capacity payment schedule, 

icknowledged that that was an oversight and would need 

:o be corrected. 

and they 

They also acknowledged in that meeting that 

Panda would receive capacity payments for 30 years. 

1994 and 1995, I was involved in several attempts to 

obtain clarification from Florida Power Corporation 

regarding the meaning of certain terms of the contract. 

However, during that time Florida Power Corporation 

sdopted a policy to avoid its contracts with 

zogenerators and began creating disputes and issues in 

an attempt to prevent Panda from building its plant. 

In 

During the summer of ‘94, Panda worked with 

Florida Power Corporation to obtain a clarification, but 

Florida Power Corporation would not sign the 

clarification letter. 

And in a final blow, Florida Power Corporation 

filed this proceeding with the Commission. 

Power Corporation’s actions brought Panda‘s efforts to 

Florida 
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Finance and build this plant to a halt. No one would 

.end money with Florida Power Corporation challenging 

:he validity of this contract. 

2orporation's action, Panda was well on the way towards 

)btaining financing for the project and construction of 

:he plant. In order for Panda to get back where it was 

iefore the filing of Florida Power Corp.'s actions, 

?anda would need a milestone extension to put it back in 

:he place it was prior to Florida Power Corp.'s filing 

in this proceeding with the Commission. 

summary. 

Prior to Florida Power 

That's my 

MR. ROSS: Thank you, Mr. Killian. We tender 

%r. Killian for cross-examination. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Mr. McGee. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. McGEE: 

Q Mr. Killian, you referred in your summary to a 

meeting between Panda representatives and Florida Power 

representatives in early 1992. Would that be the same 

meeting that Mr. Gwynn just testified to on January 9th? 

A Yes, it would. 

Q Would you agree then that even with respect to 

the representatives of Panda itself, that there was a 

lack of agreement as to just what exactly was concurred 

to by Florida Power at that meeting? 
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:he mike? 

lead that 

COMMISSIONER KIESLING: Could you speak into 

MS. BROWN: I can't hear either. 

COMMISSIONER KIESLING: When you turn your 

way, the mike is behind you. Sound waves 

lon't move that way. 

WITNESS KILLIAN: I'm sorry, could you repeat 

the question? 

BY MR. McGEE: 

Q Would you agree then that even amongst Panda 

representatives in attendance at that meeting, that 

there was a lack of agreement as to what Florida Power 

had committed? 

A I will agree that I disagree with Mr. Gwynn on 

several of the issues. 

Q But do you recognize that Mr. Gwynn was at the 

meeting? 

A Mr. Gwynn was at the meeting on January 9th, 

1992, that's correct. 

Q Mr. Killian, would I be correct in 

generalizing about your testimony, that it's intended to 

support the position that Panda's proposed 115 megawatt 

capacity and Panda's receipt of capacity payments for 30 

years is consistent with the Panda/Florida Power 

standard offer contract? 
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A That is correct. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Mr. McGee, maybe you should 

Rove to the next chair over. I'm having difficulty 

iearing you, and I think the court reporter is too. So 

if you'd move to the other microphone maybe and turn it 

m and leave them both on, maybe that will help. 

MR. McGEE: Stereo? 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: You need to get close to the 

nicrophone. These are not like the ones in the other 

suilding, and it's important that you get right up to 

the microphone. 

BY MR. McGEE: 

Q I think you agree that you're contending that 

your position is consistent with the standard offer 

contract. What I would like to know is, is it your 

position that the size of Panda's facility and the 

duration of capacity payments don't need to be 

consistent with the Commission's rules that govern 

standard offer contracts? 

A I have not -- I'm not an expert in Commission 

rules. I would say that our contract and our 

understanding of the 30-year issue is consistent with 

the contract. 

Q Your understanding of the 30-year issue is 

consistent with the contract? 
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A Contract. 

Q Is it consistent with the rules? 

A To my understanding, there is a -- in the 
ichedule that shows the capacity payments, there is a 

footnote in there that indicates that the table is for 

tllustrative purposes, and that table, that the capacity 

Iayments are calculated in accordance with Commission 

rules. 

:hat the 30-year term and the calculation of those 

iayments would be consistent -- since it did so indicate 
in the footnotes, would be consistent with Commission 

rules. 

So I guess maybe the answer to your question is 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Mr. Killian -- 
WITNESS KILLIAN: But then, once again, I'm 

not an expert in the Commission rules. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Let me ask you a question. 

Do you know if the Commission rule calls for the 

contract to -- calls for the capacity payments to be 
made over the same term as the avoided unit would have 

been in service? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: I know -- I've read the 
Commission rules and I see the -- I see the language 
you're referring to that talks about the life of the 

facility. That is correct. I see that. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: That's being avoided? 
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WITNESS KILLIAN: I didn't see that 

[ualification. 

ientioned in the Commission rules. 

I saw that the life of the facility was 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: What does life of the 

facility mean then? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: It would be how long a 

facility would be in existence. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Is it your facility or the 

Eacility being avoided? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: I would view that it 

vould -- in the case of the term of the contract, it 
qould be the life -- related to the life of our 
facility. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Let me ask it a different 

uay. 

Was this a project being done under PURPA? 

Is this a project that's being done under PURPA? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: Yes, ma'am. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: What does PURPA call for in 

Is it connected to the terms of the costs to be paid? 

cost of the avoided unit? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: It's connected to the 

avoided cost of the project. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Isn't the theory of PURPA is 

that the ratepayers will be no worse off -- that whether 
they get energy from your project or one built by FPC, 
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the cost to them is going to be the same? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: It's my understanding. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Okay. If that's the case, 

doesn't it make sense to make the capacity payments 

equivalent to the unit avoided? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: Not necessarily. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Why not? Why don't you wind 

up paying more if you have capacity costs beyond the 

avoided unit? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: Yes, ma'am. It's my 

understanding that in the value of deferral method, what 

you're doing is you're looking at year-by-year deferral 

of a project, and each year that you defer putting that 

project into service, you're avoiding a certain cost. 

And if you defer putting that unit in service for 30 

years, you are in fact avoiding a cost for 30 years. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: But it's the avoided unit 

that has the life of 30 years in the example you've 

given then? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: No, ma'am, you're avoiding 

putting that unit in service for a period of 30 years, 

and as I understand it that's what's being avoided is 

putting that unit in for the term of the contract. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: So you're making a 

distinction between the life of the unit that would have 
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)een put in and the number of years it can be avoided? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: Yes. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Okay. Go ahead, Mr. McGee. 

3Y MR. McGEE: 

Q Just to pursue that. Under that viewpoint 

:hen, once you had a contract that committed some 

:apacity to avoid a unit, even if the unit that's 

nvoided has a life of, say, 20 years, in this case you 

2ould keep deferring it forever and in theory it would 

;till be appropriate? 

A In my understanding that's correct. 

Q And that would be true irrespective of the 

zhanges in technology and in cost and all the other 

zircumstances that surround the operation and the 

planning for these kind of units? 

A Well, it would be true consistent with the 

contract, with the contract term, that's correct. 

Q Do you have a copy of the contract with you? 

In looking through your exhibits I don't think that you 

did, but I noticed that it was an exhibit to 

Mr. Lindloff's testimony. Do you have his there? 

COMMISSIONER KIESLING: While you're looking, 

you're creeping down the table. Thank you. I have an 

extra one if you need it. 

WITNESS KILLIAN: I have the negotiated 
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:ontract. 

MR. ROSS: I don't think he has it. 

WITNESS KILLIAN: I don't have it. 

3Y MR. McGEE: 

Q Now that you have that there, I notice that in 

{our testimony you state that, on Page 12, Line 15, that 

che contract does not state a net size limitation, and 

that was why I asked you to review the contract. 

Would you -- have you verified that that is an 
iccurate quote from your testimony? 

A That's correct. 

Q Would you look at -- it's designated Sheet 2 

of 88 of Mr. Lindloff's exhibit. It's the title page of 

the contract. 

A Yes, I see that. 

Q Would you read the title at the top of the 

page, the one that begins standard offer contract? 

A Standard offer contract for the purchase of 

firm capacity and energy from a qualifying facility less 

than 75 megawatts, or a solid waste facility. 

Q Does the phrase Ita qualifying facility less 

than 75 megawattstt suggest to you consistency with the 

qualifying facility of 115 megawatts? 

A I don't understand your question. 

Q Well, if the contract refers to it being for a 
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acility less than 75 megawatts, and you've indicated 

hat your facility is consistent with the contract, I 

,ant to know if that phrase in the title suggests an 

nconsistency. 

A The phrase in the title suggests nothing to 

le, but I'll refer you to Article 2 of the contract, 

inder availability, the second 2.1.2, where it 

ilaborates a little bit on the title, I guess you would 

:all it. It says, IIThe facility being a solid waste 

facility pursuant to FPSC Rule 25-17.091, or the 

Facility having a committed capacity which is less than 

75,000 kilowatts.ll So what it refers to me is that -- 
fhat it means on the title that I just read, it refers 

co the committed capacity of the contract, not the net 

~enerating output of the facility. 

Q Would you agree with me, Mr. Killian, that we 

nave two different terms that we're using here. We have 

some discussion that's taken place in the hearing that 

has to do with the size of the facility itself, the 

hardware, and then we have a discussion about the size 

or the amount of committed capacity in the contract. 

Now, when the title of the contract refers to a 

facility, does that suggest to you the physical plant? 

A I didn't hear the last point. You faded off 

again. 
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Q I'm sorry. Does the reference to a qualifying 

facility less than 75 megawatts suggest to you that in 

:hat instance we're talking about the physical plant, 

:he hardware? 

A No, that doesn't suggest that to me. 

Q It doesn't. Would you look at Section -- it's 
m Sheet 6 of 88 of Mr. Lindloff's exhibit. It's 

Section 1.1 under definitions, and in particular, 

Section 1.1.5. Would you agree with me, Mr. Killian, 

that the Commission's rules governing standard offer 

zontracts are incorporated into and made a part of the 

standard offer contract? 

A Yes. 

Q And, in fact, those rules are physically 

attached to the contract: aren't they? 

A Yes. 

Q And they're in Appendix E? 

A That's correct. 

Q Would you turn back into Appendix E of the 

contract where the rules are listed? I would like to -- 
it's on Page 72 of 88. 

A Okay. 

Q I would like to ask you to -- I would like to 
ask you to look at Section 25-17.083, which is the rule 

titled Firm Capacity and Energy Contracts, and look at 
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ection 3-A, which is at, actually, the bottom of the 

iext page where the rule begins, there's a reference to 

L 17-44 for a page number at the bottom. 

;ection I'm talking about, Section 3-A? 

Do you see the 

A Yes. 

Q Would you read the language in that short 

gection? 

A Wpon petition by a utility or pursuant to a 

:ommission action, each public utility shall submit for 

:ommission approval a tariff or tariffs in a standard 

Dffer contract or contracts for the purchase of firm 

zapacity and energy from small qualifying facilities 

Less than 75 megawatts, or from solid waste facilities 

3s defined in Rule 25-17.091.Il 

Q Now, does the reference in that subsection to 

small qualifying facilities less than 75 megawatts 

suggest to you that it's -- that a 115 megawatt unit 
would be consistent with this aspect of the standard 

offer contract? 

A What it suggests to me is that the committed 

capacity cannot be greater than 74.9 megawatts. 

Q But this language doesn't say committed 

capacity, does it? 

A But that's what that suggests to me. That's 

what you asked. 
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Q Would you turn the page, sir, and look at 

rule -- at Subsection C? It's towards the top of the 

iext page, and I would ask you if you would read the 

eirst sentence for me, please. 

A !#In lieu of a separately negotiated 

:ontract" -- is this the one? 
Q Yes. 

A -- ,la qualifying facility under 75 megawatts, 

3r a solid waste facility as defined in Rule 

25-17.091(1), F.A.C., may accept any utility's standard 

offer contract. 

Q And then would you read the following 

sentence? 

A IIQualifying facilities which are 75 megawatts 

or greater may negotiate contracts for purchase of 

capacity and energy pursuant to Subsection 2." 

Q Thank you. Again, this language -- does this 
language suggest to you compatibility of a 115 megawatt 

unit with the -- with these terms that have been 
incorporated into the standard offer contract? 

A Well, this language here, once again, suggests 

to me that the -- that for projects of greater than 75 
megawatts or greater, you would go to a -- 75 -- greater 
of committed capacity, you would go to a negotiated 

contract. That's what that suggests to me. 
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Q You would read then projects and facility as 

being synonymous terms? 

A That's correct. 

Q What is the size of the Panda project? 

A The nominal capacity is around 115 megawatts. 

Q So under this language then, applying that 

rule, you would go to a negotiated contract? 

A No, I said committed capacity. A project with 

a committed capacity of 74.9 megawatts would then go 

to -- or a facility for 75 -- 74.9 megawatts, would go 
to a negotiated contract. 

Q Not meaning to quibble with you, but I thought 

you just agreed that you viewed the project and the 

facility as being synonymous terms. 

A They are. 

Q And if this says that a facility of greater 

than 75 megawatts should use a negotiated contract, not 

a standard offer contract -- 
A I said a committed capacity of 74.9 

megawatts. See, what -- the first section referred to a 
committed capacity of 75 megawatts or less. This refers 

to a committed capacity of 75 megawatts or greater. 

Q So then you're, in effect, saying that 

facility, project and committed capacity are all 

synonymous terms? 
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A No, I'm not. I'm only saying that committed 

apacity is the measure that's stated here in this 

articular provision. 

Q Well, the verb that -- the word that's 
ctually used is the word llfacilityf1; is that correct? 

A Qualifying facilities -- it's actually 

lural. 

.ord of art. 

IURPA-based contract. 

mything else other than that. 

rhat kind of facility. 

QF is a word of art. Qualifying facility is a 

That describes the fact that it is a 

It's not trying to categorize 

It's trying to define 

It's a qualifying facility. 

Q And the use of the word llfacility,ll then, is 

:omparable to committed capacity under your 

inders t anding? 

A No. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: But it is for purposes of the 

rule, as I understand your testimony. 

WITNESS KILLIAN: I guess maybe I don't 

understand the question. I don't understand his 

question. 

BY MR. McGEE: 

Q Well, you've indicated that this rule, which 

is part of the contract, both in subsection A and 

subsection C, limits a standard offer contract to a 

small qualifying facility less than 75 megawatts, and 



270 

1 

2 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

:'m attempting to find out whether under your 

.nterpretation of the contract, you think that this rule 

.s consistent with the facility that you're planning, 

rhich is 115 megawatts? 

A Yes, and my answer is that I read this to mean 

:hat as long as the facility's committed capacity is 

:onsistent with this rule, being that in our case it's 

74. -- committed capacity is 74.9 megawatts, that the 
rule doesn't put a specific limit on the size of the 

facility being built. 

Q And you say that, even though the rule doesn't 

;peak to committed capacity at all; is that correct? 

A That's correct. 

Q While we're in this section of the rules, I 

aonder if you would look at the bottom of that page, 

Section E, Paragraph 6, the last sentence reads, "At a 

naximum, firm capacity and energy shall be delivered for 

I period of time equal to the anticipated plant life of 

the avoided unit, commencing with the anticipated 

in-service date of the avoided unit." 

Mr. Killian, do you know if the contract 

specifies the in-service date of the avoided unit? 

A Yes. 

Q And what is that? 

A 1997. 
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Q And do you know if the contract specifies the 

.ife of the avoided unit? 

A When you say life, could you be more 

specific? 

Q The life of the avoided unit. You want me to 

zharacterize that differently? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q How long it will remain in operation, how long 

it's expected to remain in operation. 

A How long -- you're asking me does the contract 

specify how long the facility will remain in operation? 

Q Yes. 

A In that particular case, no, the contract 

ioesn't specify that life. 

Q Would you turn to Sheet 53 of 88 in the 

standard offer contract? This is Appendix C, Schedule 

2 .  

A Yes. 

Q All right. Under the second category, 

Investment Data, would you read the last line? 

A ttEconomic plant life equal 20 years.It 

Q Okay, and then earlier you indicated that the 

contract specifies the in-service date of the avoided 

unit; did you not? 

A That's correct. 
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Q Is that stated up on the first line under the 

zategory General? 

A Yes, it is. 

Q Okay. Doesn't say in-service, though, does 

it? 

A It says, "year of avoided unit.tg 

0 So you read those two terms as being 

synonymous? 

A Yes, because that's when the capacity payments 

would start, would be in 1997. 

Q But you don't see that economic plant life 

refers to the life of the avoided unit? 

A No, I don't. 

Q If you would turn back to Page 12 of your 

testimony. At the bottom of Page 12, beginning on Line 

19 and into the top of the next page, you refer to 

Ilirrefutable engineering realities" that you claim make 

it necessary for a facility to have a net capacity 

substantially greater than 74.9 megawatts in order to 

produce a capacity of 74.9 megawatts; do you see that? 

A Yes, I do. 

Q Isn't it true, Mr. Killian, that Panda's own 

self-certification filed with the FERC stated that the 

Panda facility would have a net capacity of precisely 

74.9 megawatts? 
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A Yes, it did. 

Q And isn't it also true that after Panda 

redesigned its facility to increase its net capacity to 

115 megawatts, supposedly to accommodate the additional 

capacity necessary to reliably deliver 74.9 megawatts, 

that Panda offered to sell 35 megawatts of firm capacity 

to the -- to Lakeland Utilities? 
A There was an offer put out by a representative 

of Panda, yes, although he was not authorized to do 

that. 

Q Did you receive a copy of that letter? 

A Yes, I did. 

Q Did you take any action to see that that 

unauthorized activity was rescinded? 

A Yes. You use the term ltrescinded.tt I took 

action to check on whether or not -- the validity of 
that action, that effort could have been undertaken. 

Q Lakeland responded to your proposal; didn't 

they? 

A That's correct. 

Q So it appears that they weren't aware that the 

offer was rescinded? 

A We did not officially rescind the offer to 

Lakeland. 

Q I see. If you would turn to Page 13 -- 
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CHAIRMAN CLARK: Mr. Killian, let me follow up 

m that. So the offer was made by somebody who was not 

iuthorized to do so, and when you found out, you, 

ionetheless, let the offer stay out there for Lakeland 

:o take advantage of it? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: No. We had internal 

liscussions and a decision was made to withdraw the 

Dffer, but the answer came back before the withdrawal 

zould take place. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: All right. I'm confused. 

Did you withdraw the offer or -- 
WITNESS KILLIAN: No, they had already saic 

they were not interested by the time we made the 

Aecision to withdraw the offer. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Was there any documentation 

that you had made the decision to withdraw the offer? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: I don't recall. 

BY MR. McGEE: 

Q Lakeland Utilities' response to your offer was 

approximately a month later; was it not? 

A A month after the -- 
Q After the offer was -- after the proposal was 

submitted to them? 

A I don't recall when it was. 

Q Mr. Killian, on Page 30 of your testimony in 
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'our answer you describe a meeting between Panda and 

iembers of the Public Service Commission Staff. Do you 

mow whether Florida Power or any representatives of 

Plorida Power were invited to that meeting? 

A Not to my knowledge. 

Q Do you know whether they were even informed 

:hat the meeting was to take place? 

A Beforehand? 

Q Yes. 

A I do not know whether they were or were not 

informed. 

Q In any event, Florida Power representatives 

seren't present at that meeting, were they? 

A That is correct. 

Q Was the subject of the proposed 115 megawatt 

facility's compatibility with the Commission's 75 

megawatt rule discussed at that meeting? 

A To the best of my knowledge it was. 

Q Can you indicate to me how that knowledge was 

acquired? 

A Through discussion with the people that 

attended that meeting. 

Q 

A Okay. 

Q Now that's a letter from Barrett Johnson, an 

Would you turn to your Exhibit RK-12? 
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ttorney representing Panda, to Mr. Jenkins of the 

lorida Public Service Commission Staff; is that 

orrect? 

A That is correct. 

Q And the purpose of that letter is to -- and 
he content of that letter summarizes the discussion at 

he meeting that was held on August 15th? 

A That is correct. 

Q And do you see anywhere in that even the 

iention of the word I1rule1l? 

A No, I do not. 

Q In fact, isn't it true that the letters from 

Ir. Johnson to Mr. Jenkins and the response from 

Ir. Jenkins to Mr. Johnson indicate that the discussion 

?as really in the context of whether or not Panda's new 

:onfiguration constituted a contract modification that 

rould require Commission approval and not whether it was 

:onsistent with the Commission rules? (Pause) 

I should indicate that that responsive letter 

from Mr. Jenkins is the following exhibit, RK-13. 

A I do see those exact words in here where it 

does refer to the last sentence of Mr. Johnson's 

letter -- or the second to the last sentence states 
that, "We also discussed the fact that the operation of 

Panda-Kathleen in the manner described in this letter 
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md the attached letter to Florida Power Corporation is 

:onsistent with Panda's standard offer contract and is 

lot a contract change that would require Florida Public 

Service Commission approval.Il Yes, that's stated in the 

tetter. 

Q All right. And then in Mr. Jenkins' response, 

le states -- this is in RK-13, "Based on the 
representations," meaning at the -- in the Panda letter, 
"1 foresee no reason why this is any type of contract 

zhange that should come before the Commission for 

approval. 

A Yes, that's in there. However, I do know that 

the rule was discussed in that meeting. 

Q And is that documented anywhere? 

A I can't answer that. I do know the rule was 

discussed. 

Q You were not at that meeting though, were you? 

A No. I do know from the reports from the 

people who did attend the meeting that the rule was 

discussed. 

Q After that meeting was over and this exchange 

of correspondence took place, do you know if Panda did 

anything to make Florida Power aware of the results of 

that meeting? 

A In Mr. Jenkins' letter he references a phone 
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call to Mr. Dolan where he says, I t I  discussed this 

briefly with Florida Power's Bob Dolan and he 

concurred. It 

Q Well, my question was whether you -- whether 
Panda had done anything to communicate or advise Florida 

Power in any way of the results of this meeting. 

A I don't recall specifically on that one. 

Q And the reference in Mr. Jenkins' letter that 

you just referred to discussing with the Florida Power's 

Bob Dolan, that would suggest that that conversation 

with Mr. Dolan took place before this letter was 

written? 

A That's correct. 

Q So that didn't cause you to believe that 

Florida Power had received copies of Mr. Jenkins' 

letter, did it? 

A Not necessarily, no. It just indicated to us 

that Mr. Jenkins had had a conversation with Mr. Dolan 

concerning this matter and he had no problem. 

Q Do you have any basis for disagreeing with 

Mr. Dolan's testimony that the first time Florida Power 

became aware of either the meeting or the correspondence 

that followed the meeting was in early January 1995? 

A I don't understand that. If Mr. Jenkins 

talked to Mr. Dolan, you would have thought he would 
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have known about it when he talked to Mr. Jenkins. You 

would have thought Mr. Dolan would have recognized that 

the reason he was getting the phone call from 

Mr. Jenkins was because Panda did have that meeting. So 

I can't understand why it would have been four or five 

months later before he recognized the meeting took 

place. 

Q Well, do you have any basis for disagreeing 

with his testimony that he didn't receive copies of the 

correspondence until that time? 

A Oh, no, not of the correspondence. I can't 

disagree with that. 

Q Would you turn to Page 33 of your testimony, 

please? 

A I'm sorry, what page? 

Q Page 33. I was struck by your testimony on 

Line 16, which says, "With the production of 115 

megawatts of energy, Florida Power would receive 40.1 

megawatts of free capacity.tv 

Is it your testimony that Florida Power would 

avoid an additional 40 megawatts of capacity? 

A Well, are you -- you say avoid. My testimony 

is that they would not have to pay for any capacity that 

was delivered above 74.9 megawatts; that the contract 

only required a committed capacity of 74.9 megawatts. 
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And to the extent that we delivered them energy in 

excess of that, they would not have to make capacity 

payments for the amounts above 74.9 megawatts. 

Q Well, but you would be delivering energy, but 

you're claiming that the capacity would be free. Would 

Florida Power be receiving any capacity? 

A They would -- of course. They would be 

receiving free energy which would not require them to 

pay for capacity for that extra amount of megawatts they 

were receiving. 

Q Did you mean to say just now free energy? The 

energy would be at as-available -- 
A No, I'm sorry. I stand corrected. It would 

not be free energy. The capacity would be free. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Let me ask a question on 

that. And I had a question in your direct testimony 

when you indicated that Florida Power Corporation would 

receive 40.1 megawatts of free capacity. But you have 

no obligation to deliver that capacity to them, do you? 

You don't suffer any penalties if you do not in fact 

deliver that capacity? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: We view that when we build 

the plant that we're going to deliver all the energy to 

Florida Power Corp., and unlike the misadventure with 

the City of Lakeland, that we're not going to go out and 
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;ell that extra capacity to another party. And 

:onsequently, that capacity is reserved to go to Florida 

'ower Corp., and we're not -- neither does the contract 
require that they pay for it or are we asking that they 

lay for that extra capacity. 

ip with about 40 megawatts of free capacity. 

So to that extent they end 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Are you obligated to deliver 

chat capacity under the contract? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: No, ma'am. 

BY MR. McGEE: 

Q In that same vein then, from Florida Power's 

standpoint, it can't count on having that capacity; can 

it? 

A No. 

Q So if Florida Power has a capacity need -- say 
Florida Power identifies a capacity need for 100 

megawatts, it can't subtract 40 megawatts from that and 

only add an additional 60; can it? 

A Well, to the extent that Panda is delivering 

it to Florida Power Corp. and the facility is producing 

it, you know, it's there. 

Q Do you understand that planners make long-term 

decisions; that it wouldn't be a day-to-day view? 

A That's correct. 

Q Well, if the planners at Florida Power can't 
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riew that 40 megawatts, that additional 40 megawatts 

:hat you have at your facility, as avoiding a capacity 

ieed on Florida Power's part, then Florida Power would 

lave to build that capacity; wouldn't it? 

A But what this becomes is capacity that's 

:here, that's available to Florida Power Corp., and they 

ion't have to pay into any capacity for this, and the 

3enefit will accrue to the ratepayers. 

Q But if Florida Power has already had to add an 

ndditional 4 0  megawatts on its own because it can't 

Zount on yours, it's not free, is it? 

A Knowing the fact that it is available here, I 

lon't see why you would waste the money to go out and 

sdd an extra 40 megawatts. 

Q Isn't the whole basis for why this additional 

40 megawatts is needed is because it's necessary to 

provide 74.9 megawatts and that you're going to 

experience degradation and these other phenomena that 

make it necessary, that additional 40, to be able to 

serve the 75 megawatts? 

A This was the size of plant that was required 

in order to meet the needs of this contract. It was the 

smallest plant that we could size to meet the 74.9 

megawatts of committed capacity at all times. 

Q So if you need that additional capacity to 
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meet the 75 megawatt committed capacity, how can Florida 

Power count on it to avoid building 40 megawatts of its 

own capacity? 

A Well, to the extent the plant can produce it, 

it's available to Florida Power Corp. 

MR. McGEE: Those are all the questions I 

have. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Staff? 

MS. BROWN: Staff has no questions. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Commissioners? 

Mr. Killian, I do have a couple questions. I 

want to be clear on what you were originally proposing 

to build to meet the 74.9 megawatts. And as I 

understand it, it was combustion turbines of 25 each, 

three of them? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: Yes, ma'am. There were 

three LM 2500s, which their nominal capacity is 25 

megawatts each, and under normal conditions, they would 

put out between 87 and 95 megawatts. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Okay, and I'm not sure I 

understood why you deviated from that proposal and why 

those three units could reliably produce the committed 

capacity and yet the other two you chose could not. 

WITNESS KILLIAN: One of the witnesses will 

get into that in probably detail later, but in a 
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nutshell, we went back and looked at -- did a more 
exhaustive study of what the requirements were for the 

project and saw that we could not expect to get 74.9 

megawatts at all times and under all climate conditions, 

and so therefore it dictated that we get a different 

type of unit than the LM 2500s. 

Additionally, in this time frame, the 

emissions standards for Florida changed from 25 parts 

per million NOX down to 15 parts per million NOX. 

these particular units would not have achieved that NOX 

level. So that would eliminate the aero-derivative 

machines. 

And 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: So but for the change in the 

environmental concerns, you could have used those 25 

megawatt units and had that -- 
WITNESS KILLIAN: No, ma’am. No, ma’am, we 

could not. That was another factor that eliminated 

aero-derivative machines, but we had made the decision 

to not use the LM 2500s prior to the change in 

regulations because of the change in climate conditions 

and the degradation conditions we expected over the life 

of the contract. We didn‘t feel comfortable that these 

machines would be able to provide the 74.9 megawatts 

throughout the term of the contract. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: How soon after you made the 
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?roposal to use that did you decide that they were no 

Longer viable? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: I'm not sure of the exact 

time frame. You certainly -- please ask one of the 
Dther witnesses that may have been involved in that. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: I'm still having difficulty 

understanding the 30-year versus 20-year. And I keep 

relating it back to the notion that under PURPA, and 

setting the avoided cost, that whoever generates the 

electricity, the cost should be the same to the 

ratepayers. And correct me if I've misunderstood it, it 

seems to me that the capacity payments that are set out 

for your contract under the standard offer use an 

economic life of the avoided unit of 20 years. 

WITNESS KILLIAN: Yes. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: And you're saying that your 

contract is for 30 years, but as I understand it, the 

payments you're asking for are the same as those based 

on a 20-year unit, and to me, that means the avoided 

costs they have to pay under the contract, as you want 

it interpreted, will be more. 

WITNESS KILLIAN: But that's not what the 

value of deferral method does. The value of deferral 

method defers putting a unit in service on a 

year-by-year basis. In fact, your rules even allow for 
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P ten-year, a minimum ten years for a contract. And 

chat's certainly -- I mean, under the same philosophy, 
that certainly wouldn't be fair. But also, you could 

?ut a different economic life in ten years. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Why wouldn't it be fair? My 

zoncern here is -- 
WITNESS KILLIAN: It might be fair if a person 

had a facility and then he had another use for it beyond 

the ten-year period. But the point I'm trying to make 

is the rule that establishes how you determine the 

capacity payments is not necessarily related to the 

particular facility that goes in. It's related to the 

deferring of an avoided unit each year, and that's the 

way it's calculated. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: You're saying the payment 

being made to the cogenerator is not related to the cost 

of the avoided unit? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: That's what I'm saying, 

yes. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Then how can we be sure that 

the ratepayers are not harmed by the price -- that they 
pay the same price they would have paid if the utility 

built the unit as opposed to the qualifying facility 

being built? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: I can't answer that 
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question. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Okay. 

WITNESS KILLIAN: But I will say that the 

value of deferral method is pretty clear on how it's 

calculated, and it would appear to me that, you know, if 

a contract were approved for 30 years, it would be very 

consistent to calculate it consistent with the 

calculation method spelled out in the rule. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Let me see if we can agree on 

one thing, that certainly the ratepayer should have to 

pay no more under that contract than they would have 

paid had the utility built the unit that's being 

avoided? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: And under the philosophy 

avoidance of building the unit, such as the value of 

deferral method calls f o r ,  if Florida Power Corp. -- 
CHAIRMAN CLARK: You're putting qualifications 

on it that I didn't put on it. 

WITNESS KILLIAN: Yes, ma'am. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Under the philosophy of 

PURPA, isn't PURPA designed so that the ratepayers pay 

no more for that electricity, whether it is generated by 

Florida Power Corporation or by a qualifying facility? 

Is that the philosophy of PURPA? 

WITNESS KILLIAN: I would prefer the lawyers 
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to try to interpret the PURPA rules rather than me. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Fair enough. 

M R .  ROSS: I think, Commissioner Clark, 

actually we have Mr. Shanker who will be testifying on 

just that, and I think you could ask those questions of 

Mr. Shanker. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: I will. Any other 

questions? Redirect? 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. ROSS: 

Q I just wanted to ask you one question, 

Mr. Killian. Is it correct that you understand the 

words '#economic plant life" to mean something different 

than the expected operational life of the facility? 

A That is correct. 

Q And when you saw the terms Ileconomic plant 

lifet1 in this facility, you didn't think that meant the 

operational life, correct? 

A No, I felt they were different. 

Q And isn't it correct you believe the 

operational life of the 1997 combustion turbine unit, 

which is the avoided unit here, is in fact longer than 

20 years? 

A That is correct. 

MR. ROSS: Thank you. That's all I have. 
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CHAIRMAN CLARK: Thank you, Mr. Killian. 

(Witness Killian excused.) 

* * * 
CHAIRMAN CLARK: Exhibits? Do you move the 

admission of Exhibit 23? 

M R .  ROSS: Yes, I do. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: It will be admitted in the 

record without objection. 

(Exhibit No. 23 received into evidence.) 

MR. ROSS: I'm sorry, I thought I already 

had. If it is all right with the Commissioners, just 

because of a flight schedule, if we could take 

Mr. Brinson next, rather than whoever is next in the 

list. He's one of our direct witnesses. He has an 

earlier plane to catch. 

MR. McGEE: We have no objection. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: No objection? 

MR. McGEE: No objection. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Okay. Commissioners? We're 

going to take a break until quarter of, and we will 

start with Mr. Brinson. 

(Recess from 3:35 p.m. until 3:55 p.m.) 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Go ahead and reconvene the 

hearing. Mr . Brinson? 
Go ahead, Mr. Ross. 
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JOSEPH C. BRINSON 

{as called as a witness on behalf of Panda-Kathleen, 

L.P., and having been duly sworn, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. ROSS: 

Q Could you please state your name and your work 

sddress for the record? 

A First, is the mike working? I can't see from 

the lights. 

Q It's on. 

A My name is Joseph C. Brinson and presently I 

am the site manager for Panda-Brandywine's L.P. 

cogeneration facility, and my business address is 16400 

Mattawoman Drive, Brandywine, Maryland 20613. 

Q Mr. Brinson, do you have before you a document 

which is a copy of the prefiled direct testimony that 

you have presented in this proceeding? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Do you have any additions or corrections to 

make to that testimony? 

A No, sir. 

Q And is that testimony true and accurate, and 

if asked the same questions today, would you give the 

same answers? 

A Yes, sir. 
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MR. ROSS: I move that Mr. Brinson's direct 

cestimony be entered into the record as though read. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Mr. Brinson's prefiled direct 

testimony will be inserted in the record as though 

read. 

BY MR. ROSS: 

Q Thank you. And you also, Mr. Brinson, have 

two exhibits to your direct testimony which constitute 

Exhibits J C B - 1  and JCB-2? 

A Yes, sir, I do. 

Q And those are the exhibits that are referred 

to in your direct testimony? 

A Yes, sir. 

MR. ROSS: I would offer as Composite Exhibit 

No. 2 4  the exhibits to Mr. Brinson's testimony which are 

JCB-1  and JCB-2. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: J C B - 1  and 2 attached to 

Mr. Brinson's direct testimony will be marked as 

Composite Exhibit 2 4 .  

(Exhibit No. 24 marked for identification.) 
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BEFORE THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 

TESTIMONY OF JOSEPH BRINSON 

ON BEHALF OF PANDA-KATHLEEN, L.P. 

DOCKET NO. 950110-E1 

Q. Please state your name, profession, and business address. 

A .  My name is Joseph Brinson. I am the Site Manager of 

Panda-Brandywine, L.P.'s cogeneration facility, which is 

being developed by Panda Energy International, Inc. 

Panda Energy International, Inc., is engaged in the 

development and operation of cogeneration facilities. 

Prior to taking my present position at Panda-Brandywine, 

L.P.  , I worked on the planning of the cogeneration plant 
to be constructed by Panda-Kathleen, L.P. Panda- 

Kathleen, L.P. is engaged in the development of a 

qualified cogeneration facility in Lakeland, Florida 

pursuant to a contract between Panda-Kathleen, L.P. and 

Florida Power Corporation. My business address is 16400 

Mattawoman Drive, Brandywine, Maryland 20613. 

Q. State briefly your educational and professional 

background. 

A .  I graduated from North Georgia College with a B.S. in 

Business Administration-. I joined Panda in 1985. In 

1989, I became the project manager during construction of 

the Panda-Rosemary L.P. plant in Roanoake Rapids, North 
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Carolina. I became the Plant Manager of that facility in 

1990, and remained there until assuming my current 

position. 

Q. On whose behalf are you appearing in this proceeding? 

A.  I am appearing on behalf of Panda-Kathleen, L.P. 

Q. Please describe your duties with Panda Energy 

Corporation. 

A .  I am the Site Manager of Panda-Brandywine, L.P., and I am 

responsible for the construction of that plant. I have 

held that position since March of 1992. 

Q. What position did you hold prior to becoming plant 

manager at Panda-Brandywine? 

A.  I was Project Manager at Panda Energy Corporation, and.1 

was involved in the planning of the Panda-Kathleen 

facility during part of 1992. 

Q. Did you have any meetings or discussions with FPC as part 

of your job duties? 
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A .  Yes. I had several meetings with FPC employees in 

Florida while working on the planning of the Panda- 

Kathleen project. 

Q. Did you ever have any discussions with FPC employees 

regarding the planned size of the Panda-Kathleen plant? 

A .  I had discussions with FPC regarding plant size on at 

least two separate occasions. During the week of April 

15, 1992, Don Kinney and I met with Bob Dolan, Alan Keith 

and David Gammon of FPC to discuss planning issues for 

the Panda-Kathleen project. We discussed whether FPC 

would purchase the energy produced in excess of 74.9 MW 

by the plant. FPC stated that they would purchase 

additional energy above 74.9 MW committed capacity if 

Panda wanted to provide it from the Panda-Kathleen Plant. 

Notes of that meeting are attached as Exhibit "A". 

Q. Any other discussions with FPC on the plant size issue? 

A. On May 1, 1992, I again met with Bob Dolan, Alan Keith 

and David Gammon to discuss various issues, including a 

proposal to build a 110 MW facility to meet Panda- 

Kathleen's 74.9 MW committed capacity obligation. Bob 

Dolan told me that the size was not a problem to FPC, but 

that we should not talk with the Florida Public Service 
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commission on installing a 110 MW plant, and that we 

should be careful dealing with the Public Service 

Commission while ARK energy was still challenging the 

FPC/Panda contract. A report of that meeting is attached 

as Exhibit llBtr. 

Q. D i d  you have any other contact w i t h  FPC on t h i s  i s sue?  

A .  No. Late in 1992, I was reassigned to work s o l e l y  on the 

Brandywine project .~ . . 

Q. Does t h i s  conclude your testimony? 

A .  Yes. 
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BY MR. ROSS: 

Q Mr. Brinson, would you give us a brief summary 

of your testimony, please? 

A Yes, sir. My prefiled direct testimony 

describes two conversations that I had with Florida 

Power representatives regarding the size of the 

Panda-Kathleen facility. And at the time of these 

conversations I was a project manager for Panda for the 

Panda-Kathleen project . 
In April of '92, I met with Mr. Bob Dolan and 

Mr. David Gammon, Florida Power Corp. -- at Florida 
Power, and which they stated that Florida Power would 

purchase additional energy above the 74.9 megawatt 

committed capacity if Panda would like to provide it. 

And then again in May of '92, I had another 

meeting with Florida Power representatives, Mr. Dolan 

and Mr. Gammon, in which we discussed Panda's proposal 

to build a 110-megawatt plant to meet the committed 

capacity requirement for the Panda-Kathleen facility. 

And Mr. Dolan again said that the size would 

not be a problem with Florida Power, but that we should 

not talk with the Florida Public Service Commission at 

that time because the Ark Energy challenge to the 

standard offer and contract was still pending. 

Q And are the exhibits that are attached, those 
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ire your notes of those two conversations? 

A Yes, sir, the notes that are -- the exhibits 
pre my notes from those two meetings. 

MR. ROSS: Thank you. I tender Mr. Brinson 

for cross-examination. 

MR. FROESCHLE: We have no questions for this 

gitness. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Staff. 

MS. BROWN: Staff has no questions. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Commissioners? You got off 

the hook. 

WITNESS BRINSON: Now I can make that 

airplane. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Thank you, Mr. Brinson. 

Do we need to move the exhibit? Exhibit 24 

will be admitted in the record without objection and you 

can be excused, Mr. Brinson. 

(Exhibit No. 24 received into evidence.) 

WITNESS BRINSON: Thank you, ma'am. 

(Witness Brinson excused.) 

* * * 

MR. ROSS: Mr. Dietz will be next. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Yes. 

J. BRIAN DIETZ 

was called as a witness on behalf of Panda-Kathleen, 
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L.P., and having been duly sworn, testified as follows: 

MR. ROSS: Should we wait -- do you wish us to 
aait or should we go ahead? 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: No, he‘ll come up here 

ahen -- we’ll go through the formalities and he’ll be 
ready by that time. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. ROSS: 

Q Would you please state your name and business 

address for the record, please? 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: The light has to be off for 

your mike to be on. 

WITNESS DIETZ: My name is J. Brian Dietz. My 

business address is 4100 Spring Valley Road, Suite 1001, 

Dallas, Texas 75244. 

BY M R .  ROSS: 

Q Mr. Dietz, do you have before you a document 

which is a copy of the prefiled direct testimony that 

you have filed in this case? 

A Yes, I do. 

Q And is that testimony true and accurate today? 

A Yes, it is. 

a Do you have any additions or changes to that 

testimony that you wish to make at this time? 

A No, I do not. 
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Q And if asked the same questions today, would 

you give the same responses? 

A Yes, I would. 

Q I move that the prefiled testimony of 

Mr. Dietz be accepted into the record as though read. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: The prefiled direct testimony 

of Mr. J. Brian Dietz will be inserted in the record as 

though read. 
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I. 

BEFORE THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 
TESTIMONY OF J. BRIAN DIETZ 

ON BEHALF OF PANDA-KATHLEEN, L.P. 
DOCKET NO. 950110-E1 

INTRODUCTION AND QUALIFICATION 

7 Q. Please state your name, profession, and business address. 

8 

9 

1 0  

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

15 

17 

18 

1 9  

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

2 8  

29 

A. My name is J. Brian Dietz. I am the Director of 

Engineering and Operations of Panda Energy International, 

Inc. Panda Energy International, Inc. is engaged in+he 

development and operation of cogeneration facilities. 

Panda-Kathleen, L.P. is engaged in t h e  development, 

ownership and operation of independent power facilities 

and a qualified cogeneration facility in Lakeland, 

Florida pursuant to a contract between Panda-Kathleen, 

L.P. and Florida Power Corporation. My business address 

is 4100 Spring Valley, Dallas, Texas 75244. 

Q. State briefly your educational and professional 

background. 

A. I earned a Bachelor of Science degree in mechanical 

engineering from the University of Maryland in 1960 and 

a Master of Science degree in mechanical engineering from 

Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute in 1966. 

From 1950-61, I was employed by Vitro Laboratories of 

Silver Spring, Maryland. From 1961-65, I was employed by 
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United Technologies as a Senior Engineer, leaving in 1966 

to join Vought Corporation of Dallas, Texas as a Senior 

Engineering Specialist. I left Vought in 1977 to become 

the Director of Engineering and Development for Lone Star 

Energy Company of Dallas, Texas. 

In 1983, I left Lone Star to become the Manager of 

Business Development for CSW Energy, Inc. of Dallas. In I 

that position, I directed project development activities I 

for cogeneration, small power production and energy 

management activities for CSW, a then newly-formed 

subsidiary of Central and Southwest Corporation, a public 

utility holding company. At CSW, I led a business 

development team that obtained four letters of intent to 

develop more than 300 MW of cogeneration projects. 

In 1985, I left CSW to become the Director of Project 

Development for Ford, Bacon & Davis of Monroe, Louisiana. 

While employed in this position from 1985-87, I marketed 

and developed cogeneration projects for this engineering 

and construction firm specializing in pulp and paper 

projects . 

In 1987, I returned to Lone Star Energy as a Vice- 

President, serving as executive manager for Lone Star, 

directing engineering, operations and profit-loss 
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performance for five large thermal energy plants 

representing a $170 million investmenc. 

In 1989, I left Lone Star to become an independent 

consultant specializing in the development, analysis and 

operations and maintenance of industrial energy and 

cogeneration projects. During that time, in addition to 

my work for other clients, I reviewed the operational 

readiness of the operations contractor, and performed 

owners representative overview activities for the 

commissioning, start-up and testing of a 165 MW combined 

cycle cogeneration facility for Panda Energy Corporation, 

the predecessor to Panda Energy International, Inc.. 

I joined Panda Energy Corporation in September 1992 as 

its Director of Engineering and Operations. 

I am a registered professional engineer in the state of 

Texas and have held numerous offices in the American 

Society of Mechanical Engineers. 
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Q. On whose behalf are you appearing in this proceeding? 

A. I am appearing on behalf of Panda-Kathleen, L.P. 

Q. Please describe your duties with Panda Energy 

International, Inc.  

A. As Panda's chief engineer, I have the responsibility for 

the direction of the design, analyses, selection and 

specification of all major equipment and systems for the 

Panda-Kathleen project and the 230 MW Panda Brandywine 

project. These responsibilities also include, and have 

included, participation in the negotiation of the turnkey 

engineering/procurement/construction contracts for these 

cogeneration plants. 

As Panda's chief of plant operations, I have total 

management responsibility for the operation and 

maintenance of Panda's existing 175 MW cogeneration 

facility in North Carolina. The plant consists of one GE 

Frame 7 and one GE Frame 6 gas turbine in a combined 

cycle configuration. My responsibilities also include 

corporate management and the administration of the power 

purchase contract and thermal sales contract, and 

responsibility for the financial performance (profit and 

loss) of the plant. 

27 
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Q. Have you ever testified before the Florida Public Service 

Commission? 

4 A. No, I have not. 

5 

6 11. PURPOSE OF TESTIMONY 

7 Q. What is the purpose of your testimony? 

8 

9 A. The purpose of my testimony is to state the facts 

10 underlying Panda's attempts to comply with its 

11 

12 

13 

contractual obligation to ensure that it will be able to 

supply Florida Power Corporation with wholesale electric 

power for 30 years at a net 74.9 MW or ireater of 

14 capacity, under all operating conditions. My testimony 

15 will also state the facts regarding the engineering and 

16 permitting necessities that Panda attempted to comply 

17 with throughout the configuration selection process. 

18 

19 

20 111. CONTRACTUAL CONSIDERATIONS IN CONFIGURATION SELECTION 

21 Q. What considerations went into the choice of configuration 

22 f o r  the Panda facility? 

23 A .  Panda must select a plant configuration which meets the 

24 performance and interconnection requirements set forth in 

25 the contract executed by Panda and Florida Power 

26 Corporation ( "FPC" 1 . These include requirements for the 

27 Facility to: 
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1. Make available to FPC the Committed Capacity of 

7 4 . 9  MW, at all times, at the Point of Delivery 

from the Contract In-Service Date throughout the 

entire term of the power agreement (30 years); 

2. Demonstrate, each year, the Commercial In-Service 

Status of the Facility within 60 days of when FPC 

demands that demonstration; 

3. Maintain an hourly kW output, as metered at the 

Point of Delivery, equal to or greater than the 

Committed Capacity for a consecutive twenty-four 

hour period or during the on-peak hours, for two 

consecutive days; 

- .  

4. Be in compliance with all applicable permits; 

5. Be a Qualifying Facility ("QF") delivering steam 

during all hours of plant operation (as opposed to 

the avoided or deferred unit which is a combustion 

turbine operating as a peaking unit in a simple 

cycle configuration); 

6. Be capable of delivering the Committed Capacity 

using back-up fuel; and 
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7. Operate at 74.9 MWH per hour or more for 90% of the 

on-peak hours and 42% of the total hours in each 

year of the Contract term to approximate the 

availability and capacity factor of the utility’s 

avoided unit as required by the Contract, 

There are no constraints in the power agreement on the 

technology, equipment or plant configuration that may be 

utilized. 1 

Q. Did Panda consider size restrictions in its contract with 

Florida Power in selecting a configuration for the Panda 

facility? 

A. There are no provisions in the power purchase agreement 

that restrict the electrical generating capability of the 

plant. In fact, the contract requires Panda to deliver 

74.9 MW of Committed Capacity at the Point of Delivery at 

all times under all weather conditions and states of 

maintenance. 
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ENGINEERING CONSIDERATIONS IN CONFIGURATION SELECTION 

Q. Why would Panda need to select a configuration for the 

f a c i l i t y  that would have an ultimate capabi l i ty  exceeding 

7 4 . 9  MW a t  the generator? 

A .  Given the realities of electrical generation, the 

contract required Panda to construct a facility with an 

ultimate capability exceeding 7 4 . 9  MW at the generator 

because : 

1. The Committed Capacity is determined after 

parasitic electrical usage (the electricity needed 

to run auxiliary equipment and systems in the plant 

that are necessary to generate electricity) is 

subtracted; 

2 .  The Committed Capacity is determined at, and must 

be delivered to, the Point of Delivery, after line 

and transformation losses have occurred; 

3. The Committed Capacity must be delivered under all 

weather conditions and without regard to 

degradation occurring as a result of normal wear 

and teaEp 

4. The Committed Capacity must be deliverable using 

the back-up fuel; and 



308 

1 

2 

3 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

2 5. 

2 6  

27 

5 .  The Contract requires demonstrating this capability 

on 60 days notice throughout the term of the 

Contract, and prudence requires assuming that such 

notice will take place under worst case conditions. 

To satisfy all of these requirements requires the 

construction of a plant with a maximum total capability 

greater than the 74.9 MW Committed Capacity. 

Q. What design issues went into this configuration selection 

process? 

A .  To meet its obligations under its contract with Florida 

Power, Panda proposed to construct a combustion turbine 

in a combined cycle configuration for this Facility. 

Under this configuration, the waste heat from the 

combustion turbine is captured to make steam, which in 

turn is used to generate more electricity with great 

efficiency. The steam is extracted for process uses 

which is what makes it a cogeneration facility. This is 

the only viable QF configuration that could be built 

whereby the capacity and energy payment streams under the 

Contract will match up with the project's fixed and 

variable costs and that also will ensure that the 

facility is in full compliance with the Public Utilities 

Regulatory Policies Act ( llPURPA" ) . Combined cycle 

technology has a number of characteristics that require 
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the application of a unit with a maximum total capability 

greater than the Committed Capacity of 74.9 MW. 

0. Was ambient temperature degradation an issue in 

configuration selection? 

A .  Yes. The output of a combined cycle plant varies 

significantly with changes in ambient temperature and 

relative humidity. The Contract does not set the ambient 

conditions for the plant design nor does it set any upper 

limit for temperature under which the 74 .9  MW Committed 

Capacity performance requirements must be met. Since a 

combined cycle facility is subject to substantial 

performance degradation under conditions of high ambient 

temperature, the plant had to be sized to meet the 

Committed Capacity under the maximum expected ambient 

temperature. Florida Power had expressly requested 

facility performance numbers for temperatures as high as 

110' F and temperatures of 1 0 0 '  F are commonly 

experienced in Lakeland in at least three different 

calendar months of the year. The maximum recorded 

temperature is 1 0 2 '  F. During the 30-year term of the 

Contract, a 102' F temperature must be anticipated. 

At a temperature of 1 0 2 '  F, the performance of a comhined , -  

cycle plant degrades from approximately 1 5 %  to 19% of 

rated capacity (depending on the exact equipment 
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selected) compared with the performance of the unit at 

59 F at sea level Plant rated performance is typically 

quoted at 59" F at sea level. 

Q. What other performance degradation issues were considered 

in the configuration selection process? 

A. A combined cycle facility also is subject to substantial, 

performance degradation, both non-recoverable and 

maintenance-recoverable, due to operational wear and tear 

on the plant. Maintenance-recoverable degradation is 

experienced between the major overhauls of the combustion 

turbine, steam turbine, and other plant' auxiliary 

equipment. Published figures by major turbine suppliers 

show that non-recoverable and maintenance-recoverable 

degradation can be up to 6%. 

In addition, a combined cycle facility experiences 

operationally-recoverable degradation. This degradation 

includes that due to combustion turbine compressor and 

air cleaner fouling. This can amount to 2% of rated 

capacity. This degradation can be recovered by thorough, 

off-line "washing1I of the compressor and/or cleaning of 

the air filter. This "washing" can be accomplished when 

the combustion turbine is off-line. 
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Q. How must the design capability account for parasitic 

loads? 

A .  The facility will consume approximately 2% of its total 

output for internal purposes, including operating pumps, 

fans, controls, and other auxiliary equipment. The 

design must account for these parasitic loads. 

Q. How did Panda account for projected transformation and 

transmission line losses? 
- . .  

A .  These losses have been estimated at 1/2% to 1-1/25 and 

will continue over the thirty year period of the 

agreement. 

Q. Based on the analysis you've just described, what did 

Panda consider to be the total effects of degradation, 

parasitic loads and transformation and line losses? 

A .  For the combined cycle facility to meet the Committed 

Capacity of 74.9 MW at the Point of Deliverv at all times 

during the 30-year term of the power purchase agreement, 

the plant must be designed to include the cumulative 

effects of temperature degradation, nonrecoverable 

degradation, recoverable degradation, and transformation 

and line losses to the Point of Delivery. These 

degradations in output do not include reduced plant 
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output or degradation due to random auxiliary equipment 

failure over the 30 year term of the power agreement. 

These random equipment failures include such things as 

loss of a cooling tower fan, heat recovery steam 

generator tube failures, malfunctioning of combustion or 

steam turbine controls, valve failures, etc. Prudent 

engineering practice would include an extra margin of 

several percent above design rated plant output of the 

plant. Panda considered 2% to be a conservative m a r d n .  

In the aggregate, all of these factors, conservatively, 

can total 27% to 31% of the Facility's initial generation 

capability rated under standard conditions. A s  a result 

the plant must be designed conservatively with a minimum 

rated output of 100 MW at 59O F net of parasitic loads. 

This is the minimum size that the Facility must be 

capable of producing to be able to meet its contractual 

commitments for the entire 30-year term of the Contract. 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS IN CONFIGURATION SELECTION 

Q. 

A .  

How did environmental regulations play a part in the 

configuration selection process? 

When Panda signed the contract with Florida Power, the 

State of Florida limited nitrogen oxide ( l lNOxfl)  emissions 

to the atmosphere from a generating facility to 25  parts 

per million ("PPMI') at 15% excess oxygen. However, when 
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Panda began the facility permitting process in late 1992, 

the State of Florida had limited those emissions to the 

atmosphere to 1 5  PPM at 1 5 %  excess oxygen. This 

regulatory change had a significant effect on the 

technology selection and configuration selection process. 

Uncontrolled, most combustion turbine models emit well 

over 150 PPM NO, at 15% excess oxygen. There are 

currently two methods to achieve compliance with N O , '  

emission standards for a combined cycle plant: (i) 

through the use of dry low NO, combustors ("DLN") in the 

combustion turbine; or (ii) through the injection of 

water or steam in the combustion turbine combustors in 

conjunction with injection of ammonia and catalytic 

reduction in Selective Catalytic Reduction equipment 

( " S C R " )  located in the heat recovery steam generator. 

i. 

Q. Would the use of Selective Catalytic Reduction equipment 

("SCR") enable Panda to comply with these Florida 

environmental regulations? 

A .  No. While both the DLN and, to some extent, SCR 

technologies are sufficiently developed to be accepted by 

the engineering, regulatory, and financial communities, 

the SCR technology has particular problems associated 

with it that would make it difficult, if not impossible, 

f 
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to meet the 15 PPM requirement over the 30 year contract 

term. 

Application of SCR to combustion turbines has been 

primarily limited to natural gas fueled units. In 

California, the state with the most significant 

experience with SCR, only 11 of 41 permitted SCR 

facilities have been permitted to fire oil as a backup 

fuel, as is required for the facility. This is due to 

the fact that the SCR catalyst promotes the oxidation of 

flue gas SO, to SO,, which in turn reacts with un-reacted 

ammonia to form compounds that foul equipment downstream, 

including the SCR catalyst, rendering it ineffective. 

Only one of these facilities has ever been fired on oil 

(resulting in catalyst failure) and it no longer operates 

with liquid fuels. This factor alone virtually 

disqualifies SCR technology, and any turbines that cannot 

meet environmental standards without it, for use by 

Panda-Kathleen. 

In addition, there are certain inherent safety and 

environmental risks associated with the use of SCR 

technology. The safety risks include leaks in an urban 

environment during the transportation, storage, and 

handling of the ammonia required for the SCR. Ammonia is 

designated as an "Extraordinarily Hazardous Substance" 

under Federal Superfund Regulations. The environmental 

i 
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risks include malfunctioning of the SCR and its controi 

system, ammonia slip (i.e., the mismatch between the 

ammonia injected and the ammonia needed for NO, reduction 

during operation), and the disposal at the end of its 

useful life of spent S C R  catalyst, which contains 

substantial amounts of heavy metals and metal oxides that 

are classified as hazardous (e. g. , titanium, vanadium, 

platinum, and rhodium). These safety and environmental 

risks translate into financial risks for operator, owner, 

and lenders. In addition, a facility using SCR 

technology will have a higher capital cost and 

substantially higher operating and maintenance costs than 

one using DLN technology. 

In addition to the advantages of DLN over SCR technology 

for safety, environmental protection, and cost, DLN 

technology also offers operability advantages. These 

include smoothness and reliability during combustor mode 

changes, gas turbine load changes, and systemtransients. 

In addition, unlike SCR equipment, the DLN system 

operation is transparent to the plant operator. 

The use of S C R  technology is not preferred by either 

engineers or regulators in several areas of the country 

for the aforementioned reasons. ,Many consider the use- of 

SCR to control NO, emissions as 18extraordinary means" or 

"heroic technology. 'I The Panda-Kathleen project 
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1 considered using S C R  technology only as a last resort in 

2 the event that plant configurations using DLN could not 

3 be employed. 

4 

5 V. FINANCING CONSIDERATIONS IN CONFIGmLATION SELECTION 

6 

7 financeability? 

8 

0. How did all of the factors you've described affect plant 
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A. Potential lending and equity participants in the 

Panda-Kathleen project will look  not only at its 

financial strength but also at the plant design and 

selection of equipment. To be financeable, the plant 

must incorporate previously applied technology that has 

been thoroughly proven in other applications and must 

incorporate that equipment to produce a plant with high 

reliability over the term of the power contract. The 

only viable plant option that would meet all these 

requirements and could be built and operated as a QF with 

the capacity and energy payment streams provided under 

the Contract is a combined cycle facility. 

LI 

EQUIPMENT SELECTION TO COMPLY WITH THE PANDA-FPC CONTRACT 

Q. What brands of equipment and models did Panda consider in 

the configuration selection process? 
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A. Based on the Contract performance requirements and design 

issues, Panda performed a detailed evaluation of six 

combustion turbine alternatives for the combined cycle 

plant. Several other configurations were evaluated on a 

preliminary basis. The number of alternative combustion 

turbines is limited by equipment availability since, 

unlike conventional steam plants that custom-tailor the 

steam turbine performance, combu.stion turbines come only 

in standard sizes predetermined by the manufacturers. 

The six configurations evaluated cover a wide range of 

performance. These were the ABB 8C, Siemens V64.3, GE 

LM2500, GE LM6000, GE Frame 7EA, and the ABB llNl 

- . .  

combustion turbines. 

The ABB 8C combined cycle facility was unable to produce 

the necessary minimum rated output of 100 MW at 59' F net 

of parasitic loads (to overcome expected degradation and 

line losses) without extensive supplemental firing of the 

heat recovery steam generator (HRSG) and the use of SCR 

technology for NOx control to 15 PPM. Supplemental 

firing of the HRSG is not the most efficient use of fuel 

for the QF concept. 

have already been discussed. This configuration was. 

rejected for these reasons. 

The disadvantages of SCR technology 

Similarly, the Siemens V64.3 combined cycle facility 'also 

was unable to produce the necessary minimum rated output 
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of 100 MW at 59' F net of parasitic loads without 

supplemental firing of the HRSG. Further, NO, emissions 

cannot be controlled to 15 PPM without the use of SCR. 

For these reasons, this configuration was rejected. 

As with facilities using the ABB 8C or Siemens V64.3 

units, a combined cycle facility using three combined GE 

aero derivative W 5 0 0  combustion turbines was unable to 

produce the necessary minimum rated output of 100 m a t  

59' F net of parasitic loads without supplemental firing 

of the HRSG. NO, emissions cannot be controlled to 15 

PPM without the use of S C R .  For these reasons, this 

configuration was rejected. 

The GE LM6000 aero derivative combined cycle facility 

using two combustion turbines was determined to produce 

109 MW net of parasitic loads at 59 ' F. This is 9 MW more 

than the necessary minimum rated output. However, the 

use of S C R s  to control the NO, emissions to 15 PPM is 

required. In addition, the capital and O W  costs for 

this configuration were greater than the c o s t s  associated 

with more acceptable configurations. This configuration 

was rejected for these reasons. 

When new, the GE Frame 7EA combined cycle facility was 

rated to produce 118 MW net of parasitic loads at 59' F. 

Control of NO, emissions to less than 15 PPM can be 
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obtained using DLN technology. Thus, this unit was 

deemed to be acceptable. 

When new, the ABBllNl combined cycle facility was rated 

to produce 116 MW net of parasitic loads at 59' F. 

Control of NO, emissions to 15 PPM can be obtained using 

DLN technology. Therefore this unit also was deemed to 

be acceptable. 

9 

1 0  VII. PLANT CONFIGmLATIONS SELECTED 

11 

1 2  select based on this analysis? 

Q. What brands of equipment and models did Panda ultimately 

1 3  

14 A .  Based on the foregoing analysis, Panda determined that 

15 the GE Frame 7EA and ABBllNl combustion turbines are the 

16 only reasonable plant configurations that could reliably 

17 provide the Committed Capacity of 74.9 MW at the Point of 

18 Delivery at all times over the 30-term of the Contract 

19 under all weather conditions with the expected 

2 0  degradation, parasitic loads, and losses. These 

2 1  

2 2  

23 

24 

25 

2 6  

2 7  

configurations are the lowest capacity units that meet 

these criteria. The analysis indicated that both were 

equally.capable from a technical and economic standpoint. 

Both combustion turbine manufacturers were willing to 

guarantee DLN technology to meet 15 PPM. While Panda 

submitted both configurations for permitting, ultimately 

only ABB was able to guarantee timely delivery of its 



320 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

combustion and steam turbines in accordance with the 

schedule set forth in Panda's EPC contract to assure the 

plant would achieve Commercial In-Service Status in 

accordance with the power purchase contract. 

9. Does this conclude your testimony? 

A .  Yes, it does. 
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M R .  ROSS: And there are no exhibits attached 

to Mr. Dietz’s prefiled testimony, therefore we tender 

W. Diet2 for cross-examination. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: All right, let me make sure. 

He can give a summary if you -- 
MR. ROSS: I‘m sorry. It’s getting late in 

the day. Please give a summary of your testimony, 

Mr. Dietz. 

WITNESS DIETZ: My direct prefiled testimony 

describes in detail the analysis that Panda performed 

that ultimately led to the decision to use the ABB llNl 

combustion turbine in a combined cycle configuration for 

the Panda-Kathleen project. 

During the time of these analysis, I was 

director of engineering and operations for Panda Energy 

and had responsibility for conducting the analysis and 

the evaluations of the various combustion turbine 

equipment that Panda could use to satisfy the committed 

capacity requirements of the standard offer contract. 

In performing my engineering analysis, 1 

considered the impact of the Florida climate and other 

sources of performance degradation on the output of the 

plant and came to the conclusion that as a matter of 

prudent engineering practice, that Panda should 

construct a facility of 100 megawatts net electrical 
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mtput in order to meet its contractual commitments to 

xovide 74.9 megawatts of committed capacity to Florida 

?ower under all conditions for the term of the contract 

:hat we have with Florida Power. 

I also analyzed whether the available units 

nnd equipment configurations would meet the state of 

Florida air emissions requirements. These requirements 

:hanged substantially from the time we signed the 

:ontract until the time that we selected the equipment 

zonfiguration, primarily with the NOX emissions from the 

equipment going from 2 5  parts per million down to 15 

parts per million. 

I determined after these analyses that there 

was only two equipment configurations available, the ABB 

l l N l  and the GE Frame 7EA that were capable of meeting 

the 7 4 . 9  megawatts of committed capacity under all 

conditions during the life of the contract, and also to 

meet the Florida environmental emissions requirements. 

The ABB 11N1 has an output of about 115 

megawatts net, and the Frame 7EA has a few more 

megawatts available, about 117. 

We ultimately selected the ABB l l N l  combustion 

turbine because of the manufacturer’s guarantees that 

they could meet the schedule that was required in order 

to build the facility in time to meet the scheduled 
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Dn-line dates. 

That concludes a brief summary of my 

testimony. 

M R .  ROSS: Thank you. We now tender Mr. Dietz 

for cross-examination. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Mr. Froeschle? 

MR. FROESCHLE: Thank you. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. FROESCHLE: 

Q Mr. Dietz, how many engineers are employed by 

Panda? 

A Currently Panda has about five engineers. 

Q In 1991, how many engineers did Panda have? 

A Panda did not have any engineers. 

Q When did they first hire an engineer? 

A August of 1992. 

Q Who was that person? 

A That was me. 

Q Have you since been involved in the hiring of 

other engineers? 

A Yes, I have. 

Q And you now have four engineers that work for 

you? 

A We have four engineers with the company. Some 

work for me and some work for other people. 
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Q Is Darol Lindloff one of those persons? 

A Mr. Lindloff is the vice-president of 

:ethnical services. He does not report to me. I'm 

iirector of engineering and operations. 

Q But is he an engineer? 

A No, he is not. 

Q 

A 

Is he a turbine expert? 

I think over the years that he has gained 

substantial familiarization of combustion turbine 

zharacteristics and understands the application of 

:ombustion turbines. 

Q Does he select turbines? 

A He has selected turbines. 

Q On what occasions? 

A He selected the combustion turbines that were 

initially proposed for the Panda-Kathleen project. 

Q Mr. Lindloff did? 

A Yes, he did. 

Q And at what point in time was that? 

A I'm not exactly sure. At the time that the 

proposal was submitted to Florida Power Corp. would have 

to be the time. I was not with the company at that 

time. 

Q So that predated your employment by Panda? 

A That's correct. I didn't join Panda until 
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tgust of 1992. 

Q Do you know if Mr. Lindloff was involved in 

.re determination of the turbines that would be used in 

le initial configuration of the project? 

A That is my understanding. 

Q That he was? 

A Yes. 

Q Does Mr. Lindloff work in the area of 

nvironmental regulations? 

A No, he does not. 

Q Is he knowledgeable in matters of aircraft 

.erivative machinery? 

A I think that que'stion would be better answered 

,y Mr. Lindloff. 

Q 

A 

Do you have any knowledge of it at all? 

I have knowledge of it, yes, but he would be 

:he best one to provide you that answer. 

Q Well, I was just asking what you know of his 

cnowledge. 

A I think he's knowledgeable in aircraft 

derivative. 

Q I would like to turn your attention to the 

standard offer contract which Panda entered into with 

Florida Power. Do you have a copy of that before you? 

A No, I do not. Is it in this book? I have it 
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?fore me now. 

Q I would like to direct your attention to 

Do you have that before you? iragraph 7.1. 

A Yes, I do. 

Q 

A 

Q 

What does paragraph 7.1 refer to? 

Refers to the committed capacity. 

Would you agree that there is a blank left 

here for the amount of the committed capacity? 

A There is no blank in this contract that I have 

n front of me. 

Q Would you agree that the standard offer 

:ontract was initially blank and that there was a number 

‘illed into that space? 

A I cannot answer that. I do not know for 

:ertain. 

)f f er contract. 

I never saw a blank or an unfilled in standard 

Q Do you have any knowledge of where the number 

74,900 came from? 

A My understanding is that Panda provided that 

iumber . 
Q Do you know who in Panda was the person who 

iietermined that number? 

A I do not. 

Q You would agree, however, that that number 

wasn’t assigned to Panda by Florida Power or any other 
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arty? 

A I don't understand the question. Do I 

nderstand -- would you repeat the question, please? 
Q I'm just asking you if you would agree that 

.hat number was not chosen by another person, another 

!ntity? 

A I have no knowledge. 

Q You have no knowledge. Do you know if at the 

:ime that that number was selected, whether there was a 

iesign in existence? 

A I do not. 

Q Do you know if there was any kind of 

:onfiguration that had been preliminarily or in any 

Dther way drawn up? 

A I do not. 

Q Are you familiar with the amended and restated 

notice of self certification as a qualifying 

cogeneration facility which has been admitted into 

evidence previously at this proceeding? 

A What is the question, please? I don't 

understand the question. 

Q What I'm asking you is, are you familiar with 

the amended and restated notice of self-certification as 

a qualifying cogeneration facility, which has already 

been admitted into evidence at this proceeding as Robert 
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Iolan's Composite Exhibit No. l? 

A If I could look at it, I could probably answer 

:he question. 

(Pause) 

A This looks like an application for self- 

zertif ication. 

Q Excuse me? 

A This looks like the application f o r  self- 

zertif ication. 

Q If I might -- 
A It in itself is not the approved -- an 

approved FERC document. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: While they're looking for 

that, let me ask you a question. When I read your 

testimony, you spent a good deal of time talking about 

the mitigation, the NOX mitigation approaches, and one 

of them was, let's see, the one that used ammonia. 

WITNESS DIETZ: Selective Catalytic Reduction. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: And you explained the 

difficulties with that. 

that had an impact on the financeability of it. 

have an impact on the size of the facility you could 

build? I took that to be what your testimony was 

intending to accomplish is to explain why you needed to 

build 115 megawatts to meet the 74.9, and I did not see 

And then you conclude by saying 

Did it 
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low the discussion of the SCR technology impacted the 

;ize of it. 

WITNESS DIETZ: The SCR technology in 

itself -- basically the conclusion in my testimony was 
chat SCR technology is not viable. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Right. 

WITNESS DIETZ: And the reason for that is 

that the facilities that have operated using SCR 

technology in California, only 11 of the 40 some odd 

facilities at the time I did that evaluation were 

permitted to use oil, which we were going to use as a 

backup fuel. 

and it so fouled up their SCRs, that it basically 

completely ruined them, and they basically had to throw 

them out and they've never burned oil again. 

Only one facility ever tried to burn oil 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: I guess I wanted to make sure 

I didn't miss anything, that you weren't saying that 

that had an impact on the size unit. 

WITNESS DIETZ: No, no, that in itself did 

not. The SCR technology -- basically when the SCR 
technology was not viable, that meant we had to go with 

the dry low NOX technology, of which just the ABB 11N1 

and the Frame 7 0 A  had the dry low NOX technology at the 

time that we selected the configuration. 

. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: So that's how it relates to 
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he configuration; you could not use the other 

echnology. All right. That wasn't clear to me, I ' m  

orry . 
Mr. Froeschle, go ahead. Have you found the 

.ocument you wanted to ask him about? 

MR. FROESCHLE: Yes. If I might interrupt 

:hat line of questions and ask a follow-up question. 

5Y MR. FROESCHLE: 

Q Regarding the technology, the SCR versus the 

iry low NOX technology, was it a matter that you could 

lot use SCR technology, or was it a matter of choice? 

A We didn't believe SCR technology was viable. 

3ecause the oil, firing on oil, which is a backup fuel 

€or this facility, fouled the SCRs. 

Q So it's your testimony that you could not 

build a facility using the SCR technology? 

A Well, you could always build one, but it isn't 

going to work. 

Q So you could build a facility that way? 

A But it isn't going to work. So why would you 

build a facility that isn't going to work? 

Q Why wouldn't it work? 

A Because the SCRs would be fouled, and you 

would basically have to go in and replace the SCRs. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: As I understood it, the SCRs 
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Iuld be fouled because your backup fuel was No. 2 oil. 

WITNESS DIETZ: Right, that is correct. The 

ilfur in the backup fuel will foul -- in reaction with 
nmonia, will end up fouling the catalyst. 

atalyst itself has many heavy metals in it, including 

latinum, vanadium, rhodium, and these are considered 

ot a desirable product that you need to dispose of. 

t's considered a hazardous product. 

very time you burn oil, if you have to go in and 

peplace millions of dollars of these catalysts, then 

.t's just truly not viable. 

And the 

And if you -- 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Okay, Mr. Froeschle, go 

thead. 

3Y MR. FROESCHLE: 

Q Is it the case that the SCR technology would 

lot work because you were using oil as a backup fuel; is 

:hat correct? 

A It was sulfur in the backup fuel, that's 

zorrect . 
Q 

backup fuel? 

Isn't it true that you could have used another 

A There isn't another backup fuel that's 

reliably available in the area. 

Q 

A Basically, the other backup fuels that you 

On what do you base that statement? 
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Lave, there is not the distribution system to distribute 

:he quantity of fuel that would be required in the event 

;hat your facility got curtailed from using natural gas 

ind you had to go to the backup fuel. 

Q So you're saying that the other fuels would 

lot -- there would be an insufficient supply? 
A That's correct. 

Q So it isn't the technology, it's the backup 

Cue1 supply that makes it impossible? 

A Well, it all works together, hand in glove. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Mr. Dietz, would you clarify 

€or me what the other backup fuel would have been? 

WITNESS DIETZ: You could potentially use 

propane as a backup fuel. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Can't you store propane like 

you would store oil? 

technology, but can't you store propane on site? 

I mean, I know it's not the same 

WITNESS DIETZ: Yes. There's not a problem 

with the storing of the propane. 

propane that would be required in the event that you 

needed a large quantity of it immediately. 

It's the quantities of 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Go ahead, Mr. Froeschle. 

BY MR. FROESCHLE: 

Q But isn't it true that Panda chose, as a 

backup fuel, oil? 
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A That is correct. And Panda reviewed that with 

plorida Power Corp. prior to my coming on to the 

iro j ect . 
Q But isn't it also true that it's Panda's 

responsibility to design and build the facility? 

A And we've taken that responsibility to heart, 

snd we have. 

Q But it was your choice on the design, wasn't 

it? 

A That is correct. 

Q Now I asked you to place in front of you, 

before that digression, the amended and restated not,ce 

of self-certification as a qualifying cogeneration 

facility. Do you still have that? 

A I have an application for it. It was here a 

minute ago. I do not have a FERC-certified copy of it. 

MR. FROESCHLE: Madam Chairman, I want to 

check to see whether he has the correct document in 

front of him, because what I have that I am referring to 

is an amended and restated notice of self-certification, 

as opposed to an application. 

he's got the right document. 

I just want to make sure 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: That's fine. 

WITNESS DIETZ: It's the filing, but it's not 

the -- it's a filing, but I don't see any FERC stamp or 
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cceptance on it. 

,Y m. FROESCHLE: 
Q That's correct, it is a filing. 

.t made by? 

A It was made by Ed Gwynn. 

334 

And who was 

Q On behalf of Panda; isn't that correct? 

A Yes. 

Q And in that document, doesn't it state that 

:he facility will have an estimated net maximum 

:apacity, at design conditions, of 74.9 megawatts? 

A In the letter it says estimated net maximum 

Pesign capacity of 150 megawatts and a steam generation 

2f 50,000 pounds an hour on the letter. 

Q I am referring to the amended notice at the 

Dottom of the page. 

A You mean the -- not on the letter page? 
Q Page 2 of 3 of Exhibit RDD-1. 

A Okay, the letter says 150 megawatts and steam 

That covers sheet generation of 50,000 pounds an hour. 

2 of 3. 

Q Let me try to clarify and see if I can get 

this clear enough for you. 

MR. ROSS: Madam Chairman, may I interpose an 

objection? 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: You can't all talk at once. 
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'he court reporter can only get one of you. Just hang 

,n a minute, Mr. Dietz. 

MR. ROSS: Let me interpose an objection. I'm 

;orry . 
CHAIRMAN CLARK: Mr. Froeschle, what were you 

loing to say? 

MR. FROESCHLE: What I would like to do is 

I believe I understand just ask a couple questions. 

&ere his confusion on this issue might be. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Ask your question and then 

ae'll give Mr. Ross an opportunity to object if he 

Zhooses to. 

MR. FROESCHLE: Thank you very much. 

BY MR. FROESCHLE: 

Q I'm looking now at Sheet 1 of 3 of Exhibit 

RDD-1. Are you there? 

A Yes. 

Q And that's a letter dated October 7th, 1991, 

isn't it? 

A That's correct. 

Q And in that letter, doesn't it state that this 

notice will amend and restate a previous -- a previous 
self-certification, No. 91-62, which was filed by Panda 

Energy Corporation, and listed the estimated net maximum 

design capacity at 150 megawatts and steam generation at 
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i 0 , O O O  pounds per hour: is that correct? 

A That's correct. 

Q So would you agree now that this amended and 

restated notice, which is attached to that letter, is in 

Eact a restatement of the quantities that were being 

zertified to FERC? 

MR. ROSS: While he's looking, let me state my 

Dbjection at this point. 

ilong. 

lirect testimony. 

3pplications. 

Defore just now he's even seen these things before. 

thought cross-examination was limited to the scope of 

his direct. 

Maybe we can move things 

I'm not sure what any of this has to do with his 

He hasn't testified about these FERC 

There hasn't even been established that 

I 

MR. FROESCHLE: Madam Chairman, Mr. Dietz has 

testified as to the size of the facility, and this is an 

aspect of that issue. 

here states that they will build a facility 7 4 . 9  

megawatts net. 

The certification that we have 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Mr. Ross, I think he can 

explore previous decisions on what to use as a way of 

testing the validity of his testimony now. 

Why don't you ask your question, that last 

question again, and Mr. Dietz, if you will answer. 

MR. FROESCHLE: I would ask that it be read 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

22 



337 

1 

2 

6 

7 

a 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

)ack. 

(Record read.) 

WITNESS DIETZ: The answer to that is yes. 

If October 7th, 1991. That is correct. 

3y MR. FROESCHLE: 

Q What do the terms "net maximum capacity at 

fesign conditions of 74.9 megawattsv1 mean to you? 

A I think they're self-explanatory with the 

A s  

exception of design conditions. 

Sesign conditions are, since they're not in the letter. 

Q Well, I'm asking what meaning you give to the 

I don't know what the 

words "net maximum capacity at design conditionst1. 

A In connection with this case, I would say the 

design conditions would have to be at least 102 degrees 

Fahrenheit with an appropriate relative humidity to go 

along with that, and that would say that we would have 

to have a maximum capacity at 74.9 megawatts. 

Q So you would agree that the net maximum 

capacity of the facility that was certified to FERC in 

this document was 74.9 megawatts? 

A That's correct. 

Q And you would agree with me that Panda was 

responsible for the design of the facility; would you 

not? 

A That's correct. 
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Q Therefore, wouldn't you agree that Panda, in 

:s certification to FERC and in this capacity statement 

1 the contract, was intending to design a facility that 

mld be no larger than 74.9 megawatts? 

A 

Q 

It appears that way in October of 1991. 

Now, on Page 7, Lines 11 to 13 of your 

estimony, I would ask you first to go to that point in 

our testimony. Are you there? 

A Yes, I am. 

Q In that portion of your testimony, you were 

sked the question: 

estrictions in its contract with Florida Power in 

electing a configuration for the Panda facility?It 

"Did Panda consider size 

You answer that, "There are no provisions in 

:he power purchase agreement that restrict the 

ilectrical generating capability of the plant. ' 1  

IOU agree with that? 

Would 

A Yes, I did. I so submitted in my direct filed 

testimony. 

Q Are you familiar with the title to the 

standard offer contract? 

A Yes, I am. 

Q 

A 

Could you please read it for the record? 

Before the Florida Public Service Commission, 

Testimony of Darol -- whoops. I can't find the first 
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,age of the contract here. 

Standard Offer Contract for the Purchase of 

rim Capacity and Energy From a Qualifying Facility Less 

rhan 7 5  Megawatts or a Solid Waste Facility. 

Q What do the words in that title "Qualifying 

pacility Less Than 75 Megawattstt mean to you? 

A Since that was the only place that it was used 

tithin the contract, and everywhere else it talked about 

75 megawatts of committed capacity, and my understanding 

is that the titles have no relevance in accordance to 

m e  of the sections in the contract, that the 75 

megawatts was for committed capacity. 

Q I would like to explore that with you then. 

gould like you to turn to -- I believe it's Sheet No. 

3.505 in the upper right-hand corner. It looks to be 

sfter the table of contents. 

page of the contract itself. 

I 

It looks to be the first 

Are you at that page? 

A Yes, I am. 

Q Would you agree that on this first page that 

the same words that were used in the title of the 

zontract are repeated here? 

A Yes. 

Q Now, I would like you to go down the page a 

little bit to right below witnesseth, 

for you to read for us that paragraph that begins, 

and I would like 
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'Whereas. I' 

A "Whereas, the QF desires to sell and the 

:ompany desires to purchase electricity to be generated 

)y the facility and made available for the sale to the 

Zompany, consistent with the FPSC Rules 25-17.080 

:hrough 25-17.091, in effect as of the execution 

late" -- you want me to continue? 
Q Would you agree then that the contract has 

referenced the Florida Public Service Commission rules? 

A I agree that it apparently has referenced 

them, yes. 

Q And that they -- this contract, in fact, is 
intended to be consistent with those rules. Wouldn't 

you agree with that? 

A Even though I'm not a lawyer, to understand 

complete legal terminology, that appears to be the case. 

Q Okay. Have you read those rules? 

A I've read them several years ago. 

Q 

A I have not. 

Q I would like to refer you to, attached to the 

standard offer contract, the rules, and I would like to 

ask that you turn to first the Rule 25-17.0832. Are you 

there? 

Have you read them since that time? 

A No. 
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Q It's attached to the back of the contract. If 

'ou have the version which is the attachment to Darol 

dndloff's testimony, it would be Sheet 72 of 88. 

A And what is the paragraph number? 

Q It would be paragraph 3 ,  subparagraph -- just 
m e  moment -- (a). If you could please read 

mbparagraph ( 3 )  (a) for the record. 

A And that's on Page 72? 

Q No, we've moved to Page 73. It would be 

towards the bottom of the page. 

A ( 3 )  (a), Wpon petition by a utility, or 

pursuant to a Commission action, each public utility 

shall submit for Commission approval a tariff, or 

tariffs, and a standard offer contract, or contracts, 

for the purchase of firm capacity and energy from small 

qualifying facilities less than 75 megawatts, or from 

solid waste facilities as defined in Rule 25-17.O91.lt 

Q Now, again, what do those terms Itsmall 

qualifying facilities less than 75 megawattsvv mean to 

you? 

A The term here of Ilsmall qualifying facilities 

of less than 75 megawatts,lI used in conjunction earlier 

with the firm capacity, mean to me the 74.9 megawatts of 

committed capacity that Panda has contracted for. 

Q Do you see anywhere in this rule the words 
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#committed'# or ##capacity## or ##contract#'? 

:ime, if you please. 

One at a 

A It says, '#Purchase of firm capacity and energy 

from small qualifying facilities less than 75 

negawatts." 

If 74.9 that is referenced in the contract. 

?articular -- 

And to me that means the committed capacity 

And in 

Q 

A 

Q 

A "The facility'# -- I'm sorry. 2.1.2, '#The 

Eacility having a committed capacity which is less than 

75,000 kW.## 

mean committed capacity. 

Is the term ''contract#' in the rule? 

-- in particular in Article 2.1.2. 
Are you referring me to a -- 

The two in conjunction, I read that then to 

Q 

zapacity -- 
A 

So what you're saying is that committed 

And firm capacity and energy from a small 

qualifying facility less than 75 megawatts. 

Q Those terms are synonymous? 

A Yes. 

Q 

And it's the same rule and it's Paragraph (l)(b), 

I would ask that you now look at Page 72 of 

8 8 .  

and I would like for you to read (1) (b) through 

subparagraph 2, for the record, please. 

A Starting with, "In ten working days'!? 



343 

1 

2 

a 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

ia 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q Yes. 

A (1) (b)? 

Q Yes, please. (Pause) 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Mr. Dietz, I think he wants 

rou to read it out loud. 

WITNESS DIETZ: Okay. I think you would have 

;o read it in conjunction with the lead-in paragraph 

fhich is -- which starts out IIFirm capacity and energy 
ire" -- 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Mr. Dietz. Mr. Dietz. Would 

{ou please read what he asked you to read? 

nttorney can ask you to read the other part on redirect. 

Your 

WITNESS DIETZ: Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Or you can further qualify 

four answer. 

WITNESS DIETZ: Okay, (b) (2)? 

MR. FROESCHLE: I would like you to start with 

(b) and read down through (2). 

WITNESS DIETZ: "Within ten working days of 

the execution of a negotiated contract for the purchase 

of firm capacity and energy, or within ten working days 

of receipt of a signed standard offer contract, the 

purchasing utility shall file with the Commission a copy 

of the signed contract and a summary of its terms and 

conditions. At a minimum, such summary will report: 
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"No. 2, the amount of the committed capacity 

;pecified in the contract, the size of the facility and 

the type of facility, its location and its 

interconnection and transmission requirements.11 

BY MR. FROESCHLE: 

Q Would you agree with me that committed 

zapacity and the size of the facility are distinctly two 

separate items in this rule? 

A That appears that way. 

Q Thank you. Going back to Page 7 of your 

testimony, you stated that there were no provisions in 

the power purchase agreement that restrict the 

electrical generating capability of the plant? 

A That is my interpretation of the contract. 

Q In your opinion, do you believe Panda could 

build a 1000 megawatt facility under this standard offer 

contract? 

A That's a highly speculative question, but, 

yes, I believe, in speculation, that one could deduce 

that. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: Could you repeat the 

question? I'm sorry, missed the question. 

BY MR. FROESCHLE: 

Q Mr. Dietz, in your opinion, could Panda build 

a 1000 megawatt facility under this standard offer 
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:ontract? 

A Speculatively, I believe that Panda could 

mild a 1000 megawatt facility. However, Panda has no 

intentions of building one larger than is necessary to 

neet the requirements of our contract and has so 

lemonstrated, as demonstrated in my testimony, by 

selecting the smallest unit that's available that can 

meet the capacity under all times and conditions, and to 

meet the environmental regulations of the state of 

Florida. 

Q Why, if it was true that you could build a 

1000 megawatt facility under this contract, did you size 

it to the smallest possible facility? 

A Because I believe that was in the spirit of 

the standard offer contract. 

Q So the spirit of the standard offer contract 

is that you could have built any size, but Florida Power 

didn't really want you to build one bigger than 75 

megawatts? 

A I can't answer to what Florida Power Corp. 

wanted. I've never talked to them on this issue. 

Q But didn't you just state that you believed 

that that was the spirit of the contract? 

MR. ROSS: Objection, That's exact opposite 

of what he just stated. I would object to that 
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pestion, the form of the question. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: Everybody's 

Vhat did you -- 
MR. ROSS: I'm sorry. I objected 

mumbling. 

to the 

nrgumentative question. 

testimony just exactly opposite of what he just said, 

snd then he said, I'Isn't that what you just said?" 

He just restated the witness's 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Hang on a minute. Can you 

please read back what the witness said? 

MR. ROSS: Or he said, the spirit of the 

contract 

(Record read.) 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Would you ask your question 

again, Mr. Froeschle? 

MR. FROESCHLE: Could I ask that she read that 

one a l s o ,  the next question? 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Could you read that one also? 

(Record read.) 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: I don't think it's entirely 

clear what the answer to the question was. Let me see 

if I can ask Mr. Froeschle to ask his question again. 

As I understood your answer, though, 

Mr. DietZ, it was that you believed the spirit of the 

standard offer contract is that the facility be less 

than 75 megawatts. 
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WITNESS DIETZ: I believe my answer was that 

re wanted to make it as close to 74.9 megawatts as we 

)ossibly could and meet our contractual commitment to 

rovide firm capacity over the term of the contract. 

It is not our intention to build a facility 

:hat sometimes makes 74.9 and other times doesn't make 

74.9, because on the days that Florida Power Corp. needs 

:he powerl which is sometimes the hottest days of the 

{earl they need to know that that 74.9 megawatts is 

there. They've contracted with us for it. So 

therefore, we wanted to build a plant that would meet 

that commitment and build the smallest one that we 

possibly could that would still make that 74.9 and still 

build a plant that would meet the Florida environmental 

requirements. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: So your testimony is 

that your plant size is the only plant size that could 

meet that demand? In other words that was the smallest 

possible that you could come in with to meet the demand 

that you had contracted? 

WITNESS DIETZ: That's correct. And that's 

basically the basis for my prefiled testimony. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: Just want to get it on. 

WITNESS DIETZ: I appreciate the help. 

BY MR. FROESCHLE: 
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Q Let me see if I can clarify that question with 

{our agreement. Would you agree that that's the 

smallest you could build the facility under the self- 

imposed limitations of using the particular backup fuel 

ahich you chose to use, of not using inlet air cooling 

snd of having to perform to the contract requirements 

Jpon the order of Florida Power at any given moment? 

Would that be a statement you could agree with? 

A No, I could not fully agree with that 

statement. If you could break it down into complements, 

1'11 tell you which parts I agree with and which parts I 

don't. 

Q Do you know which ones, without my repeating 

them, that you would disagree with? 

A I think it would be best if we could do it one 

by one. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Even if he could do it, I 

don't think we'd understand it. 

BY MR. FROESCHLE: 

Q You have stated that 115 megawatts is the 

smallest facility which you could design and still 

supply 74.9 megawatts of capacity on every single minute 

of every day of every year of the contract for the life 

of this contract; is that correct? 

A That's correct. 
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Q All right. Now, you also -- you've also 

igreed previously that Panda chose 74.9 megawatts of 

:apacity, right? 

A That's correct. 

Q All right, so we are working -- 
A Of committed capacity. 

Q Okay. 

A That's correct. 

Q So we're working with certain self-imposed 

issues here. In other words, Panda has chosen the 

:omitted capacity which it wishes to supply. Now, 

isn't it also true you could have designed a facility 

that used inlet air cooling? 

A And we did. 

Q So you could have done that. Was the 115 

megawatt facility, was that allowing for inlet air 

cooling? 

A 115, yes, it was, we have evaporative coolers 

on the inlet of the combustion coolers. 

Q So that would be -- 115 megawatt facility 
would have that designed into it? 

A That's correct. 

Q What about the dry low NOX versus the SCR 

technology for environmental limitations? 

A That's designed in also. 
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Q That's designed in also. 

Did you use inlet air cooling for the original 

ronf igurations of 74.9 megawatts? 

A I don't know what was used for the original 

' 4 . 9  megawatts. 

Q Did you ever see that design or that 

:onf igurat ion? 

A No, I did not. 

Q And are you stating now that you have never 

inalyzed that particular -- 
A Yes, I've analyzed it later. 

Q Can you tell me now whether that would 

incorporate inlet air cooling? 

A Yes. All the configurations that are in my 

?refiled testimony -- and it starts over on Page -- 
basically on Page 19 and 20, that review all the 

eonfigurations that we looked at. I'm sorry, it starts 

over on Page 18 -- 18, 19 and 20. 
evaporative coolers for chilling the inlet air. 

All of them used 

Q Isn't it true, though, that in your testimony 

you stated that you would have to increase the size of 

the facility by 15 to 19 percent because of the 

temperature variations? 

A That's correct. 

Q And wouldn't that problem be alleviated by 
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nlet air cooling? 

A Are you talking about the use of chillers or 

nlet air cooling? We employ inlet air cooling, and the 

.5 to 19 percent degradation due to temperatures 

.ncludes evaporative coolers. 

tddition to the evaporative coolers. 

So you have that in 

Q Let me ask you this question. Did your design 

Lncorporate chillers? 

A No, we did not. 

Q And could you have designed a facility that 

qould have? 

A Yes, we could have. 

Q So you have made a choice there, a 

self-limiting choice, of choosing not to use chillers; 

is that correct? 

A It would not have made an effect on the 

outcome of the configuration selected. 

Q 

A On the environmental requirements. 

0 Now, I believe that you've stated that the 

environmental requirements were tied into the backup 

fuel used: is that correct? 

On what do you base that statement? 

A That's correct. 

Q And I believe you've also testified that you 

chose a particular backup fuel here, which was oil as 
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>pposed to propane; is that correct? 

A We chose the most readily available backup 

%el that we could, knowing that a reliable supply of 

Euel is what's necessary under the contract. The most 

readily available backup fuel is oil. 

Q But, again, you have chosen to use a 

?articular fuel. 

impossibility, are we? You could have chosen another 

Euel. 

We're not talking about an 

A Well, the reliability of a large quantity of 

propane as a backup fuel is certainly suspect, and the 

Aistribution system in the Lakeland area is certainly 

suspect. 

Q But again, you could have chosen another 

backup fuel; couldn't you? 

A Yes. 

Q Thank you. And if you had chosen another 

backup fuel, the self-limitation you've imposed on your 

design parameters would have been alleviated; wouldn't 

it? 

A It would have been alleviated to the extent it 

would have alleviated some technical requirements. 

However, it would have violated the contract in having a 

reliable supply of fuel at all times, which is part of 

the contract. 
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Q So are you stating that your real reason why 

rou had to design the facility was because of the backup 

fuel problem, not the environmental limitations? 

A No, it was the environmental limitations due 

:o the fact that we needed a reliable backup -- reliable 
supply of backup fuel. 

Q Now, one other limitation that you have 

seemingly imposed on your design parameters here is your 

reference to nonmaintenance and maintenance recoverable 

iegradations of the turbines; is that correct? 

A That is correct. 

Q And I believe that you have stated that the 

reason that those would have to be included in the 

additional capacity you would have to design into the 

facility is because Florida Power at any given moment of 

any given day, any given year, could go in and require 

you to show that the facility was producing 7 4 . 9  

megawatts; is that correct? 

A That's correct. 

Q Could you cite me to the paragraph in the 

contract where that states that? 

A Panda signed a contract to provide 74.9 

megawatts of committed capacity. Panda has -- and 
believes that Florida Power needs to have that power 

available at all times and under all conditions over the 
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.ife of the contract, and not under some sort of 

;pecified test condition or excuse of performance under 

Ither conditions. Florida Power Corp. needs to know 

:hat that capacity is available. I cannot specify a 

)articular place in the contract that says that it has 

:o be under all times and all conditions. It says that 

it -- we must provide 74.9 megawatts of committed 
zapacity. 

zapacity on sunny days or cloudy days, or you're excused 

if the weather gets too cold or too hot. It's 74.9 

It doesn't say 74.9 megawatts of committed 

megawatts of committed capacity. 

Q I believe that that response was nonresponsive 

to the question. 

in the contract it states -- 
I would now ask you to cite me where 

A I believe I answered that I couldn't cite the 

particular thing in the contract. 

Q You cannot. Let me ask you to read, at this 

time, paragraph 7.2 of the standard offer contract. 

A #'For the period ending one year immediately 

after the contract in-service date, the QF may, on one 

occasion only, increase or decrease the initial 

committed capacity by no more than 10 percent of the 

committed capacity specified in Section 7.1 hereof, upon 

written notice to the Company, before such change is to 

be effective, provided, however, that in no event shall 
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:he committed capacity exceed 75,000 kilowatts, unless 

:he QF is a solid waste facility." 

Q I apologize for having cited you to the wrong 

)aragraph, but I would like to ask you a question 

:egarding that particular paragraph. 

:hat that paragraph allowed -- would allow Panda to 
reduce the committed capacity which it selected when it 

;ubmitted this of fer to Florida Power? 

Would you agree 

A Yes, it would, on a selective basis. 

Q And that selective basis being that it could 

>e done only one time in a year? 

A That's -- only in the first year. 
Q And that it would be by no more than ten 

9ercent; would you agree with that? 

A That's correct. 

Q Have you ever calculated what that would mean 

in terms of the committed capacity that Panda could have 

lowered the committed capacity of the contract to? 

A I did not specifically calculate it, but it's 

roughly 7.5 megawatts, roughly. 

Q 

A That's correct. 

Q -- 7.5 megawatts? 
A That's correct. 

Q 

So that would be a smaller capacity size of -- 

So Panda could have reduced its committed 



356 

1 

2 

3 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

2 4  

25 

:apacity under the contract and then had -- have some 
.eeway between the committed capacity in the contract 

tnd the size of the facility; isn't that correct? 

A That's correct. 

Q Is it your testimony that there is no facility 

rhatsoever that could be designed if you -- If you 
removed the self-restrictions on your design that you've 

>laced there, regarding fuel size, regarding the 

:hillers, regarding some of these other aspects of it, 

pre you -- is it your testimony that there is no 
eacility that could have been designed that would have 

Deen less than 75 megawatts that would have provided the 

zommitted capacity under this clause of this contract? 

A Well, that's -- as long as we're speculating, 

I assume that we probably could find one. 

Q So you could design such a facility; you would 

agree? 

A 

here, yes. 

We're just playing highly speculative games 

Q I'm asking you in your professional engineer's 

opinion, as a designer of these facilities, whether you 

believe that you could design such a facility. 

A I can't answer that here without going back 

and looking at all the information that we have 

available. 
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Q I would now like to have you read paragraph 

7.4 from the contract. 

A "The Company shall have the right to require 

that the QF, not more than once in any 12-month period, 

redemonstrate the commercial in-service status of the 

facility within 60 days of the demand, provided, 

however, that such demand shall be coordinated with the 

QF so that the 60-day period for the redemonstration 

period avoids, if practical, previously notified periods 

of planned outages and reduction in capacity pursuant to 

Article 5.Il 

Q In your opinion, does that clause allow 

Florida Power to designate the time that -- the specific 
date, or time of day, or day of the week, or anything 

else, when Panda would have to meet these requirements? 

A It doesn't designate the time and doesn't 

designate the Florida Power as being able to select the 

time, but it doesn't prohibit it from doing so. 

Q Would you agree that this provision allows the 

Company to redemonstrate its commercial in-service 

status within 60 days of the demand for that 

recertification -- or redemonstration, excuse me. 
A I'm sorry, could you repeat the question, 

please? 

Q Would you agree that under this paragraph, 
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.4, that Panda would have 60 days to redemonstrate the 

ommercial in-service status of the facility? 

A I believe that’s what the paragraph says. 

Q Therefore, Florida -- I withdraw that 
pestion. 

Now, at some point in time after the initial 

;elf-certification of the facility at 74.9 megawatts, 

ras there -- apparently there was a redesign or a 
*econfiguration of the facility; is that correct? 

A Yes. 

Q And at that point in time you determined that 

:he 75 megawatt facility was no longer viable; is that 

zorrect? 

A Panda was looking at other configurations at 

ibout the time that I came on board. 

#hen I came on board were to evaluate other types of 

Zonfigurations. 

And my activities 

Q Is it your testimony that Panda would have to 

mild a 115 megawatt facility in order to supply 74.9 

megawatts of capacity; is that correct? 

A That is my testimony. 

Q That is your testimony. 

MR. FROESCHLE: At this time I would like to 

show you what was marked as Deposition Exhibit No. 57. 

Madam Chairman, I believe this would be 
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:xhibit No. 26. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: I have 25. The last exhibit 

ras JCB-1 and 2. 

MR. FROESCHLE: So this is Exhibit 25? 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: That's what I have, because 

:here were no exhibits to Mr. Dietz' testimony. 

MR. FROESCHLE: We had miscounted that. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: This is a deposition exhibit 

ind it was taken at whose deposition? 

MR. FROESCHLE: This was taken at the 

ieposition of Mr. Dietz. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: And what was the date? 

MR. FROESCHLE: If I might have a moment. 

(Pause) 

MR. FROESCHLE: Madam Chairman, the date of 

:he deposition was January 9th, 1996. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: All right, we'll mark as 

3xhibit 25 Deposition Exhibit No. 57 from Mr. Dietz' 

January -- 25th? 
MR. FROESCHLE: January 9th. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: -- January 9th deposition. 
(Exhibit No. 25 marked for identification.) 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Go ahead with your 

questions. 

MR. FROESCHLE: Thank you. 
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3y MR. FROESCHLE: 

Q Do you have before you now what’s been marked 

3s Exhibit 25? 

A Yes, I do. 

Q Do you recognize that document? 

A Yes, I do. 

Q And what does that document provide for? 

A It’s an invitation to come to a meeting to be 

conducted by Taylor Cheek to discuss a strategy meeting 

for 35 megawatts of sale from the Panda-Kathleen to the 

City of Lakeland. 

Q Is this from the same facility for which you 

have been talking about would have to be sized at 115 

megawatts to provide 74.9 megawatts to Florida Power? 

A It appears that way, yes. 

MR. FROESCHLE: If I might have a moment, Your 

Honor -- Madam Chairman, excuse me. 
Madam Chairman, I would like to use a document 

that has already been provided to the Commission under 

rebuttal testimony, but it has not been yet admitted at 

this proceeding. 

whether you would like to refer to it in the testimony 

exhibits or if you would like me to separately offer it. 

So I would request guidance as to 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Why don‘t we separately 

identify it? Do you have copies of it? 
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MR. FROESCHLE: Yes, I do. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: We'll go ahead and do that. 

MR. FROESCHLE: It is Deposition Exhibit 77. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: It's Deposition Exhibit No. 

77 from Mr. Dietz's January 9th, 1996 deposition? 

M R .  FROESCHLE: Yes. I would ask that this 

2xhibit be marked Exhibit 26. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: It will be marked as Exhibit 

26. 

(Exhibit No. 26 marked for identification.) 

BY MR. FROESCHLE: 

Q Mr. Dietz, do you have this Exhibit 26 in 

front of you now? 

A Yes, I do. 

Q What is this? Do you recognize it? 

A This appears to be a proposal from Taylor 

Cheek of Panda Energy to the City of Lakeland for 35 

megawatts of electric capacity and energy. 

Q Would you agree that the 35 megawatt 

brainstorming session ultimately led to an offer to 

Lakeland to sell power? Would you agree with that 

statement? 

A I would say that could have contributed to 

it. 

Q And would you also agree, then, that that was 



362  

1 

2 

3 

4 

8 

9 

10 

11 

1 2  

1 3  

14 

1 5  

16 

17 

i a  

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

2E 

rom the same facility which you believe had to be sized 

.t 115 megawatts to provide 74.9 megawatts to Florida 

bower under the standard offer contract? 

A That is correct. At that meeting that was 

*eferred to in the first memo, I went to it and 

)asically said it couldn‘t be done, and basically I was 

zxcluded from all activities regarding this proposal 

ifter that. 

Q I appreciate that qualification, although I 

fasn’t asking for that. But that‘s fine. I would like 

:o ask you at this time, since that proposal was made, 

IOW Panda was intending to supply that 3 5  megawatts of 

firm capacity. 

A I have no clue. It couldn’t be done from our 

Eacility, because obviously we needed at least 100 

megawatts in order to satisfy -- as it was in my 
testimony -- in order to satisfy the 74.9 megawatts of 
committed capacity for Florida Power Corp. under the 

standard offer contract. So I had no idea how these 

people were going to do it. 

today that Mr. Killian testified that this was an 

unauthorized proposal that went out and that the 

proposal was in the process of being recalled when the 

city had rejected it. 

I believe that earlier 

Q I would like to refer you, then, to that offer 



363 

1 

2 

3 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

rhere there is -- at the bottom of this April 4th, 1994 
Iffer made, a CC to Ralph Killian, and I would ask you 

:o tell me what his position was with Panda at the time 

:hat this offer was made. 

A I believe he was senior vice president. 

Q And Mr. Darol Lindloff? 

A Vice president. 

Q And Mr. Todd Carter? 

A He was president of Pan-Oak, which is an 

axpiration and gathering -- expiration company for fuel. 
Q Now at the time that this offer was made, did 

you remain the head engineer in charge of this project? 

A At the time this offer was made it was made 

independent of me. 

Q I was asking you, however, if you remained the 

head engineer in charge of the project. 

A I was -- yes. 
Q So in other words, as the head engineer who is 

designing this facility, you were completely at odds 

with these persons who you've identified as to how much 

capacity that plant would be able to supply; is that 

correct? 

A I was at odds with Taylor Cheek on how much 

capacity could be supplied from the facility. 

Q Now these people -- excuse me, I didn't mean 
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to interrupt. 

A I don't believe that Darol Lindloff was 

involved at that time in anything to do with either this 

proposal or the project, either one. He was typically 

put on there as a matter of courtesy. 

actively involved in developing some projects in China 

at that time. 

He was pretty 

Ralph Killian, in -- of course you questioned 
him earlier regarding his activities at this time, so I 

can't answer for what his knowledge was on it. 

Q 

A That is correct. 

Q 

But you were at odds with this proposal? 

And these persons were copied with this 

proposal; is that correct? 

A That is correct. 

Q And that was dated April 4th, 1994 ;  is that 

correct? 

A The proposal is dated April 4th, 1 9 9 4 .  

Q I would like to show you now deposition 

Exhibit No. 60 from that same deposition. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: We'll identify as Exhibit 27,  

Deposition -- 
MR. FROESCHLE: Madam Chairman, if I might 

apologize, I've gotten one exhibit ahead of myself, and 

if we could just hold on to this one, I would like to 
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Dffer another one in advance of that one. So if we 

zould set that to the side. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Okay. 

MR. FROESCHLE: At this time I would like to 

show the witness Deposition Exhibit 78 from that same 

Seposition . 
CHAIRMAN CLARK: Exhibit 78 from Mr. Dietz' 

January 9th, 1996 deposition will be marked as 

Exhibit 27. 

(Exhibit No. 27 marked for 

BY M R .  FROESCHLE: 

Q Mr. Dietz, do you have Exh 

A Yes. 

ident .if ication 

bit 27 before you 

Q What is the date on that document? 

A April 5th, 1994. 

Q '94? Is that correct? 

A Yes. 

Q Would you agree that that's the day after the 

offer was made to the City of Lakeland? 

A That's correct. 

Q Would you read down there the second -- well, 
it looks like a bullet point, and it states Project 

Description? 

A Yes. 

Q And by that is the name Brian? 
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A That's correct. 

Q Do you know who that is referring to? 

A That is referring to me. 

Q And that project description, under the first 

subpoint there, has the word 75 megawatts versus 110 

megawatts; is that correct? 

A That's correct. 

Q And could you tell me what the purpose of that 

agenda item was? 

A Yes. This was an agenda item for the Panda- 

Kathleen prebid conference with the engineer, procure 

constructors, that was held in Lakeland on the 5th of 

April. The team that we had down there included Ted 

Hollon, who was our vice president of construction, 

included myself, and it included Kyle Woodruff, who had 

joined the Company within just a few days prior to that, 

who was to be the project manager for the Panda-Kathleen 

project, taking over, basically, from Ted, who was 

acting in that position prior to that. 

The prebid meeting was to acquaint the bidders 

with the site at Lakeland and to introduce them to the 

project. Under the project description, the 75 

megawatts versus the 110 megawatts was to explain 

basically to them the fact that we had a 74.9 megawatt 

committed capacity and that we needed to build a larger- 
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pized facility in order to meet that committed capacity 

snd to explain the reasoning behind that. 

Mr. Hollon, who wrote this document -- and it 
vas primarily for our internal use at the meeting, to 

make sure that we didn’t forget anything on the 

agenda -- mistakenly put 110 megawatts as opposed to the 
115 megawatts. The remaining part of the agenda 

discusses items that were of interest to the potential 

bidders for the project. 

Q Would you agree that 75 plus 35 equals 110? 

A Yes, I do. 

Q Thank you. I now would like to refer to the 

other document which we just distributed, Deposition 

Exhibit 60 from that same deposition. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Deposition Exhibit 60 from 

Mr. Dietz’ January 9th, 1996 deposition will be marked 

as Exhibit 28. 

(Exhibit No. 28 marked for identification.) 

BY M R .  FROESCHLE: 

Q Do you have that Exhibit 28 before you now? 

A Yes, I do. 

Q Do you know what that is? 

A This appears to be the letter of rejection 

from the City of Lakeland to our proposal of April 4th. 

Q When is it dated? 
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A May 2nd. 

Q So approximately one month passed from the 

Lime that the renegade offer was made until this letter 

>f rejection came from Lakeland; is that correct? 

A It appears to be that way. 

Q Do you have any evidence -- or excuse me, let 
me withdraw that question. 

Did Panda ever convey to the City of Lakeland 

that the offer made was either incorrect or improper or 

anything else of that nature? 

A I don't know. I wasn't involved -- I was not 
involved in the offer process. I was not included in 

any of the meetings after the first meeting. 

Q Have you ever seen any documents that would so 

raise that point with the City of Lakeland? 

A No. 

Q Would you agree that it was the City of 

Lakeland, not Panda, that chose not to conclude this 

offer made by Panda? 

A I can't answer that question. I have -- don't 
have enough knowledge to know that. 

Q Would you like to take the time to read this 

document? 

A Not particularly. I believe Mr. Killian 

discussed that in much more detail in his testimony 
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sarlier. 

MR. FROESCHLE: I have no other questions at 

this time. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Thank you. Staff? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MS. WAGNER: 

Q Mr. Dietz, we only have a few questions for 

you, and basically it's regarding the size of the 

facility and how you determine that size. First, I 

would like to ask you, are there -- do power plants come 
in discrete sizes? 

A Y e s ,  they do. Combined cycle facilities, 

which use combustion turbines and heat recovery steam 

generators and steam turbines, come in discrete sizes, 

unlike other power plants where a particular size is 

selected and they just automatically design the steam 

turbine specifically for a particular size. Combustion 

turbines, because of their technology, come in a size. 

The only modifications you can get to that, basically, 

are due to the burner technology, whether you have dry 

low NOX technology or whether you use regular 

technology, but that's only just a megawatt or two 

difference on a turbine that might be about 75 

megawatts. So they come in discrete building block 

sizes. 
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Q So you could not build one, let's say, that's 

like 8 6  megawatts or anything like that? 

A You would basically have to go out and look at 

what's available. And, for instance, GE happens to make 

an 8 0  megawatt turbine. The GE Frame 7EA is an example, 

and that's one of the ones that we considered. But 

they, at least at the time we did this, did not have a, 

quote, "86 megawatt," or you couldn't buy an 87.5 

megawatt. 

would be up substantially larger than that. 

The next size of turbine they might make 

Q Would you agree that there's nothing really 

wrong with the philosophy of maximizing your profits? 

A Well, I don't believe there is anything wrong 

with it, within the constraints of the contract. We've 

got to meet the requirements of the contract. And, you 

know, I was a little bit disturbed when I heard earlier 

that on the 20-year versus 30-year that Panda might 

breach the contract or default under the contract during 

the last ten years. That disturbed me very much, 

because Panda does not do that. Panda wants to live up 

to the obligations that it has signed up for. 

Q When you determined the size of the facility 

did you look at it -- when you came up with the 115 
megawatts, did you look at it in regards to economic 

feasibility? 
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A That was done independently of me. My purpose 

aith being with the company was to look at things from a 

technological standpoint. The information that I had 

#as passed on to the finance department, and of course 

they are continually looking at how they can make 

money. But in this case the finance department didn’t 

select the technology. We, in the technical department, 

selected the technology. 

Q So Mr. Killian can answer that question as to 

whether not -- Mr. Lindloff can answer that question as 
to whether or not the 115 megawatt is more economically 

feasible than, let’s, say the 75? 

A Well, you can ask him. I don‘t know how 

familiar he is with that. 

Q When you determined the size of the plant, did 

you attempt to build the plant or create it so that it 

was the largest plant that could be supported by the 

capacity payments that were generated from the standard 

offer contract? 

A Well, of course we are limited on the capacity 

payments to the 74.9 megawatts of committed capacity. 

Everything above that we don’t get paid for. So, you 

know, what we want to do is build as inexpensive a plant 

as we possibly can to meet that -- in any event, whether 
it’s to meet our contract requirements, as cheaply as we 
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possibly can. We don’t want to spend $100 million or 

$200 million on a 75 megawatt plant when that‘s just not 

the going rate. 

0 But if you got a deal on a 300 megawatt plant 

that cost -- excuse me for one second. I’m sorry. 

Okay, so if you got a deal on the 300 megawatt plant 

that had the same cost and basically was the same deal 

as the 115 megawatt plant, would you find it more 

feasible at that point to go with the 300 megawatt 

plant? 

A That’s an interesting question. I would sure 

question the people that had a 300 megawatt plant, of 

what sort of quality they had. Obviously would we 

potentially like to go with the cheapest plant we could 

and get the biggest bang for the dollar. 

However, having said that, we are also 

interested in the quality of the facility. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: What if it was a good 

quality, top quality, a very good -- you got a good 
deal? 

WITNESS DIETZ: Well, I would certainly like 

to consider it. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: Wouldn‘t that violate 

the spirit, though, that you spoke about earlier about 

the contract? 
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WITNESS DIETZ: I think it would. We selected 

the smallest plant that we could that met the spirit of 

the contract, or we felt like that was the case. You 

know, we're playing hypothetical games here. 

COMMISSIONER GARCIA: Right. I realize that. 

WITNESS DIETZ: And I think we might want to 

consider that type of facility to -- for another type of 
contract, where we could get capacity payments for -- 
larger capacity payments, certainly. 

MS. WAGNER: Thank you, Mr. Dietz. 

that we have for you. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Questions, Commiss 

That's all 

oners? 

WITNESS DIETZ: That was a very challenging 

question. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Redirect? 

MR. ROSS: Two questions on redirect. 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. ROSS: 

Q Mr. Dietz, you were asked a lot of questions 

about this Lakeland situation. Just so it's clear, you 

told Mr. Cheek from the beginning that it wouldn't work, 

technically, to make that offer to Lakeland, didn't youl 

sir? 

A That is correct. 

Q And you believe it would not have been 
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possible to make such a contract with Lakeland, correct? 

A That is correct. 

a You were asked earlier a number of questions 

about the original FERC application that was done before 

you were there. Do you recall that? 

A That‘s correct, and I was -- kind of stumbled 
around it because I had not seen that application 

previously. 

Q The FERC application was amended, however, 

after you were with Panda; was it not? 

A That is correct. 

Q And there was actually an order from FERC 

granting your amended application for certification as a 

qualifying facility, correct? 

A That is correct. I didn‘t see that order from 

FERC on the application that I was asked to testify 

about earlier. 

MR. ROSS: Let me just have it identified at 

this point. This is an exhibit that is attached to one 

of the rebuttal witness’s testimony we haven’t gotten to 

yet, but consistent with our position here, let’s go 

ahead and identify it now, which would be No. 29. 

BY M R .  ROSS: 

Q Can you identify this exhibit as the order the 

order granting the amended FERC application? 
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A Yes, that is correct. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Mr. Ross, do you want this 

identified as Exhibit 29? 

MR. ROSS: Yes, I would. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Exhibit 29 is the Order 

Granting Application for Certification as a Qualifying 

Cogeneration Facility dated -- or excuse me, issued 
October 20th, 1994. 

(Exhibit No. 29 marked for identification.) 

MR. ROSS: And I would offer that as an 

exhibit on redirect. It is, as I said, also later 

identified in one of the rebuttal witnesses, matter of 

fact one of Florida Power's rebuttal witnesses. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Anymore questions, Mr. Ross? 

MR. ROSS: I believe that is it for 

Mr. Dietz. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Okay, exhibits. 

Mr. Froeschle, do you have any exhibits you want to move 

into the record? 

MR. FROESCHLE: Yes, ma'am. Yes, Exhibits 25 

through 28, I would request that they be moved into 

widence. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Exhibits 25 through 28 will 

De entered into the record without objection. 

Mr. Ross, you move Exhibit 29? 
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MR. ROSS: Right. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: It will be entered in the 

record without objection: 

(Exhibit Nos. 25, 26, 27, 28 and 29 received 

into evidence. ) 

(Witness Dietz excused.) 

* * * 
CHAIRMAN CLARK: We need to take stock of how 

long we’re going to be this evening. The next witness 

is Mr. Lindlof f. 

Mr. McGee, can you estimate how much time for 

cross-examination you have? 

MR. FROESCHLE: I f  I might have one minute. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Staff, how long do you have 

for Mr. Lindloff? 

MS. BROWN: We have no questions, at least so 

far. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Mr. Ross, what about 

Mr. Morrison and Mr. Dolan, how much -- when they appear 
on rebuttal, how much time do you need for 

cross-examination? 

MR. ROSS: On Mr. Dolan’s rebuttal I would 

estimate no more than ten, 15 minutes maximum. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: And Mr. Morrison? 

MR. ROSS: Probably no more than 30 minutes. 
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CHAIRMAN CLARK: Back to you, Mr. Froeschle. 

:an you estimate your cross-examination of 

fr. Lindlof f? 

M R .  FROESCHLE: I would estimate between five 

hnd ten minutes, probably closer to five. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: How about rebuttal witnesses, 

cillian, Dietz and Shanker, total cross-examination on 

:hose witnesses? 

MS. BROWN: Chairman Clark, Staff has very 

Little. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: I’m going to give you 15 

ninutes for all three. 

MR. McGEE: Madam Chairman, on all three I 

gould estimate 15 minutes. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: Okay. All right. 

MR. McGEE: Maybe 20. 

CHAIRMAN CLARK: We’re going to adjourn -- 
we’re going to reconvene in ten minutes. We‘ll take a 

short break. 

(Recess at 5:28 p.m. until 5:40 p.m.) 

(Transcript continued in sequence in 

volume 3 . )  


